Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Pharmacology & Therapeutics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pharmthera

Associate editor: P. Molenaar

New pharmacological approaches for cystic fibrosis: Promises, progress, pitfalls

Scott C. Bell ^{a,b,*}, Kris De Boeck ^c, Margarida D. Amaral ^d

^a Department of Thoracic Medicine, Prince Charles Hospital, Brisbane, Australia

^b Queensland Children's Medical Research Institute, Brisbane, Australia

^c Pediatric Pulmonology, Department of Pediatrics, University of Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

^d University of Lisboa, Faculty of Sciences, BioFIG – Centre for Biodiversity, Functional and Integrative Genomics, Campo Grande, C8 bdg, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 14 June 2014

Keywords: Cystic fibrosis Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein CFTR2 Correctors Potentiators Trial end-points

ABSTRACT

With the discovery of the *CFTR* gene in 1989, the search for therapies to improve the basic defects of cystic fibrosis (CF) commenced. Pharmacological manipulation provides the opportunity to enhance CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein synthesis and/or function. CFTR modulators include potentiators to improve channel gating (class III mutations), correctors to improve abnormal CFTR protein folding and trafficking (class II mutations) and stop codon mutation read-through drugs relevant for patients with premature stop codons (most class I mutations). After several successful clinical trials the potentiator, ivacaftor, is now licenced for use in adults and children (>six years), with CF bearing the class III G551D mutation and FDA licence was recently expanded to include 8 additional class III mutations. Alternative approaches for class I and class II mutation of F508del, the most common *CFTR* mutation. Alternative therapies such as gene therapy and pharmacological modulation of other ion channels may be advantageous because they are mutation-class independent, however progress is less well advanced. Clinical trials for CFTR modulators have been enthusiastically embraced by patients with CF and health care providers. Whilst novel trial end-points are being evaluated allowing CFTR modulators to be efficiently tested, many challenges related to the complexity of CFTR and the biology of the epithelium still need to be overcome.

© 2014 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Cystic fibrosis – the disease in 2014	20
2.	<i>CFTR</i> gene mutations and <i>CFTR</i> mutation classes	21
3.	The complex CF disease spectrum and the benefits of the CFTR2 project	21
4.	Mutation-specific therapies or CFTR repairing therapies	23
5.	The complexity of assessment of efficacy of CFTR modulators in a wide range of <i>CFTR</i> mutations	24
6.	Innovative non-CFTR based therapeutic approaches tackling the basic defect	27
7.	Impact of new treatments on the clinical course of CF, clinical practice and clinical decision making – perspective	
	from the CF clinic	29

* Corresponding author at: Adult Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Department of Thoracic Medicine, The Prince Charles Hospital, Rode Road, Chermside, Brisbane 4032, Australia. Tel.: +61 7 31394770; fax: +61 7 31395630.

E-mail address: scott.bell@health.qld.gov.au (S.C. Bell).





Pharmacology Therapeutics

Abbreviations: Amil, Amiloride; AMP, Accelerating Medicine Partnership; ANO, anoctamins; AONs, antisense oligonucleotides; ASL, airway surface liquid; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; BMD, Becker muscular dystrophy; CaCC, Ca²⁺-activated Cl⁻ channel; Cas, CRISPR-associated systems; CBAVD, congenital bilateral absence of vas deferens; cDNA, complementary DNA; CF, cystic fibrosis; Cl⁻, chloride; CFRD, CF-related diabetes; CFTR, cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator; CRISPR, clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats; DAG, diacylglycerol; DGK, diacylglycerol kinase; DMD, Duchenne muscular dystrophy; ECFSPR, European Cystic Fibrosis Patient Registry; ENaC, epithelial sodium channel; EU, European Union; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; FRT, fisher rat thyroid; GWAS, genome-wide association studies; HBE, human bronchial epithelial; hESCs, human embryonic pluripotent stem cells; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; HRQOL, health-related quality of life; iPS, induced pluripotent cells; IP₃, D-myo-inositol trisphosphate; IQR, interquartile range; KvLQ11, cAMP-regulated K⁺ channels; LCI, lung clearance index; ORCC, outwardly rectifying Cl⁻ channel; mdx mice, X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy mice; *P. aeruginosa, Pseudomonas aeruginosa*; PDE, phosphodiesterase; PS, pancreatic sufficiency; PIP₂, phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate; PKC, protein kinase C; P2Y₂, purinergic receptors; UTP, uridine triphosphate; siRNA, small interfering RNA; SFHR, small fragment homologous replacement; T, thymidine; TALEN, transcription activator-like effector nuclease; WES, whole exome sequencing; WT, wild type.

8. Conclusions .		•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			•	•	•
Conflicts of interest																																			
Permission			•																																
Acknowledgments			•																																
References																																			

1. Cystic fibrosis - the disease in 2014

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is the most common life shortening condition in Caucasians and affects approximately 70,000 people around the globe including ~30,000 in North America and more than 30,000 in Europe (Sosnay et al., 2013). CF is an autosomal recessive disease which is caused by a mutation in each of the 2 *CFTR* genes.

So far, almost 2000 different mutations have been reported to the original *CFTR* mutation repository (www.CFTR.2.org, 214). F508del is by far the most common mutation. It is found in about 70% of CF chromosomes worldwide and is present in ~85% of patients on at least one allele. Whilst prevalence is broadly similar in populations which had their origin from northern Europe, there are considerable variations through Europe from as high as 1 in 1400 live births in Ireland, 1 in 4200 in Italy and 1 in 25,000 in Finland (Anonymous, 2002; O'Sullivan & Freedman, 2009). Prevalence rates are much lower in non-Caucasian populations (e.g. 1 in 4000–10,000 in Latin Americans, 1 in 15,000–30,000 in Africans and ~1 in >100,000 in people of Asian origin) (Anonymous, 2002; O'Sullivan & Freedman, 2009).

Cystic fibrosis is a multisystem disease affecting organs and tissues where CFTR is expressed. The common clinical manifestations are related to impact of the defect gene on the airways (upper and lower respiratory tract), gastrointestinal tract including the biliary system and the reproductive tract (Table 1). About 85% of patients with CF have pancreatic insufficiency associated with nutrient malabsorption and often under-nutrition. Decreased reabsorption of chloride ions via the CFTR channel in the sweat duct can lead to salt loss syndromes. Increased concentration of chloride ions in sweat (>60 mmol/L) remains the best diagnostic test for CF. Therapies are complex and involve pancreatic enzyme supplementation, fat soluble vitamins, mucolytic (e.g. dornase-alpha) and hydrator therapies (e.g. hypertonic saline. mannitol), airway clearance, and frequent and often repeated courses of antibiotics. The vast majority of morbidity and mortality results from pulmonary disease associated with chronic bronchial infection and bronchiectasis. Lung disease remains a progressive condition and the burden of therapy is very significant for the patient, his family and the health care system.

When initially described in the 1930s, CF was universally fatal in infancy or early childhood. Until recently the majority of people with CF were children, though in the past decade in many parts of the world there are now more adults than children (Anonymous, 2012a, 2012b, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c, 2013d). In some countries, including Canada, Italy and Denmark numbers of adults approach or even exceed 60% of the total CF populations (Anonymous, 2012a, 2012b). The median survival from CF has dramatically increased. It approaches 40 years and is predicted to extend to 50 years for children born in the current era (Elborn et al., 1991; Dodge et al., 2007). Importantly, improvements in outcomes have not been universal. Between 2003 and 2007, in non-European Union (EU) countries, the median age of the CF population was 12.1 years (IQR 6.0 to 19.2 years) and only 28% was 18 or more years of age, which is significantly lower than for those living in EU-countries where the median age was 17.0 years (IQR 9.5 to 19.2 years) and 47% was 18 or more years of age (McCormick et al., 2010).

Improvement in survival is thought to be multifactorial and related to earlier diagnosis, better detection of milder disease phenotypes, improved nutritional status, more aggressive treatment of pulmonary infection, more effective approaches to airway clearance and the management of patients within CF specialist centres supported by multi-disciplinary health care professionals (Mahadeva et al., 1998; Tiddens, 2009; Colombo & Littlewood, 2011). Newborn screening programmes have been established for more than 30 years in some parts of the world, though in recent years have been adopted in many more health care settings (Dijk & Fitzgerald, 2012). Recognition of bronchial infection and its aggressive treatment with antibiotics may prevent and or delay the development of chronic infection particularly of the most common bacterial infection in CF, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*) (Ratjen et al., 2010; Taccetti et al., 2012; Mayer-Hamblett et al., 2013). The rates of chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection in children with CF have dramatically fallen over the past 20 years (Lee et al., 2004).

In parallel with the growth of adult numbers, the health of young adults has improved. This is supported by data from the US CF Patient Registry which demonstrates that the median FEV₁% predicted of 18 year olds was 84% predicted in 2012, which represented an increase by 20% over the last 20 years (Anonymous, 2013a). Similarly, nutritional status has increased in older patients. Improved health at transition to adult care, with more effective and broader-based therapies throughout adult life has led to a growing number of older adults (>40 years) (Hodson et al., 2008; Simmonds et al., 2009; Plant et al., 2013). Longer life span and quality of life for young adults with CF have resulted in greater prospects of employment or study, having long-term relationships and considering having their own children (Anonymous, 2012a, 2012b, 2013a, 2013b, 2013c). Furthermore, survival with advanced lung disease is much greater as evidenced at the Royal Brompton Adult CF Centre in London, where median survival in adults with FEV₁ < 30% predicted improved from 13 months in the early 1980s to 5.3 years 20 years later (George et al., 2010). However, the improved survival is at the cost of an ever increasing treatment burden for the patients.

Numerous complications previously either unrecognized or rare resulting from CF and its treatment are now common in the CF adult clinic, adding significantly to the complexity of the care of the adult with CF. CF-related diabetes (CFRD), multi-resistant infections of the lung, metabolic bone disease leading to reduced bone density which may in part be contributed to by therapies and toxicity resulting from therapies such as aminoglycosides and drug allergies, gastrointestinal malignancy and the psychosocial consequences (such as depression and anxiety) are prevalent in adults with CF (Quon & Aitken, 2012; Plant et al., 2013; Bell & Reid, 2014). Lung transplantation is an option for those with progressive respiratory failure and adequate management of the above complications is increasingly important for patients who are likely to require assessment for transplantation in the future (Meachery et al., 2008; Lobo et al., 2013; Plant et al., 2013; Hollander et al., 2014). Many of these complications require additional therapy adding further to the treatment burden for the patient.

The past three decades have seen exciting developments in the outcomes for people with CF, though pre-mature death before 50 years remains the norm. Therefore, to see major additional improvements in survival and quality of life of the person with CF, it is vital that new therapies and particularly those which prevent early lung disease in children, those which alter the natural history of progressive airway disease of CF and those which change the basic defect in the epithelium of CF tissues are developed and trialled. The potential for CFTR specific therapies has been much discussed and studied by the CF scientific

Table 1

Clinical features of cystic fibrosis.

Sinopulmonary	Gastrointestinal/hepatobiliary	Reproductive and endocrine	Salt loss syndromes	Other
Chronic bronchial infection leading to bronchiectasis Chronic infection with multi-resistant pathogens Haemoptysis Pneumothorax Respiratory failure Allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis Chronic rhinosinusitis and nasal polyposis	Pancreatic exocrine insufficiency Recurrent acute pancreatitis in those with pancreatic sufficiency Fat soluble vitamin deficiency Distal intestinal obstruction syndrome Intussusception Appendiceal abscess Cirrhosis with portal hypertension Gastroesophageal reflux Constipation Bacterial overgrowth including pseudomembranous colitis	Obstructive azoospermia in males Reduced fertility in women Delayed puberty Oligomenorrhea Cystic fibrosis-related diabetes Metabolic bone disease (reduced bone mineral density)	Acute dehydration due to heat prostration Hyponatraemic, hypochloraemic metabolic alkalosis Pseudo-Bartter syndrome	Difficult vascular access Hypersensitivity reaction to antibiotics CF arthropathy/hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy Chronic kidney disease Nephrolithiasis/oxalate nephropathy Depression Anxiety

and medical community and much anticipated by the wider CF community since the discovery of the CF gene in 1989 (Riordan et al., 1989).

2. CFTR gene mutations and CFTR mutation classes

Generally, a higher frequency of the F508del mutation is observed in northern than southern European populations (Fig. 1A).

By comparison all other mutations are relatively rare. However, the relative frequency of specific *CFTR* mutations varies greatly between countries and even between regions within countries (Bobadilla et al., 2002), such is the case for G551D which also show heterogeneous geographic distribution (Fig. 1B).

In most countries, only 10 to 15 *CFTR* mutations occur at a frequency above 1%. Many *CFTR* mutations are very rare, only occurring in a few or even a single person. Many papers describe these country or region specific mutations that are sometimes 'nicknamed' after their origin (e.g. Dutch mutation, Mediterranean mutation, 'Slavic mutation' – see Table 2). The majority of information on the relative occurrence of specific mutations is comprehensively reviewed by Bobadilla et al. (2002).

According to the respective gene defect, the nearly 2000 CFTR gene alterations have the following distribution: missense (42%); frameshift (15%); splicing (13%); nonsense (10%); large (3%) and in-frame (2%) deletions/insertions; and promoter (0.5%); plus 15% of presumably non-pathological variants (www.CFTR.2.org, 214; Bobadilla et al., 2002). Ultimately, however, all CF disease-causing mutations result in defective cAMP-regulated Cl⁻ secretion by epithelial cells, but this is due to various reasons (Welsh & Smith, 1995). A major step forward was achieved by grouping CFTR mutations with a similar effect on CFTR protein synthesis or function in the same mutation class. Indeed, elucidation of the molecular and cellular effects of mutations is likely to be a rich source of information to predict disease severity and can also provide the scientific basis for development of targeted compounds for mutation-specific correction (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007; Amaral & Farinha, 2013). CFTR mutations have thus been classified according to their functional defect (Zielenski & Tsui, 1995; Amaral & Farinha, 2013), as follows (Table 3, Fig. 2):

- Class I mutations impair protein production, and being often nonsense mutations (with premature stop codons) they lead to mRNA degradation by a process called nonsense-mediated decay. Common mutations in class I include G542X (common in Brittany and Southern France), R1162X (common in Austria and Northern Italy), or W1282X (reaching 48% amongst Ashkenazi Jews) (Bobadilla et al., 2002).
- Class II mutations which besides F508del, include R560T (Roxo-Rosa et al., 2006), A561E (Mendes et al., 2003), R1066C (Seibert et al., 1996) and N1303K (Gregory et al., 1991) amongst others, affect CFTR protein processing due to misfolding which is recognized by endoplasmic reticulum (ER) quality

control retention and which targets proteins with abnormal conformations to degradation (Amaral, 2004).

- Class III mutations (e.g., G551D) disrupt channel regulation through impaired gating.
- Class IV mutations (e.g., R334W) decrease Cl⁻ ion conductance (i.e. flow) through the Cl⁻ channel.
- Class V mutations significantly reduce normal protein levels, often by affecting splicing and generating both aberrant and normal transcripts (e.g. 3272–26A>G), whose levels vary amongst patients (Ramalho et al., 2002) and in different organs of each patient.
- Class VI mutations lead to decreased retention/anchoring at the cell surface, often associated with decreased protein stability at the plasma membrane, e.g. F508del-CFTR after rescuing to cell surface (Farinha et al., 2013; He et al., 2013) or in a deletion mutant that takes out the CFTR protein initiation codon, so that the resultant protein lacks the N-tail required for cytoskeleton anchoring (Ramalho et al., 2009).

The major virtue of this classification lies in adapting strategies of drug development to the specific defects caused by groups of mutations. In view of drug development and drug distribution, it is therefore also useful to know the relative prevalence of these mutation classes. Therefore we include these data in Fig. 3 and Table 2 and refer to two papers describing the distribution of *CFTR* mutation classes across Europe, US and Australia (Boyle & De Boeck, 2013; de Boeck et al., 2014). Like most classifications, this CFTR mutation classification has limitations: these include a) at present for many mutations it is not yet known which mutation class they belong to and b) some mutations have characteristics of more than one mutation class (e.g., F508del is considered a class II mutation but especially rescued F508del CFTR also has characteristics of classes III and VI, drug).

3. The complex CF disease spectrum and the benefits of the CFTR2 project

Most of the nearly 2000 *CFTR* mutations described so far are likely pathogenic, since they are found in subjects with disease characteristics of CF. However, after the identification of the *CFTR* gene, an increasing number of *CFTR* mutations were described, also in subjects with milder disease characteristics such as isolated bronchiectasis and male infertility due to congenital bilateral absence of vas deferens (CBAVD). Data from CF newborn screening equally confirm the variability of the CF phenotype, as well as the importance of considering the possibility of "complex alleles" (i.e. alleles containing more than 1 *CFTR* mutation or polymorphism). In most CF newborn screening programmes a surplus of "patients" carrying the R117H mutation in *trans* with F508del were identified (Scotet et al., 2006; Thauvin-Robinet et al., 2009; Lilley et al., 2010) and many of these subjects did not develop phenotypic features of CF. Although R117H by itself somewhat reduces CFTR conductance and gating (Sheppard et al., 1993), it was found that the



Fig. 1. Mutation distribution of F508del (**A**) and G551D (**B**) – (**A**) Percent of patients homozygous (dark) or heterozygous (light) for F508del mutation in different countries and regions. (**B**) Percent of patients homozygous (dark) or heterozygous (light) for G551D mutation in different countries and regions. AT: Austria, BE: Belgium, BY: Republic of Belarus, BG: Bulgaria, CH: Switzerland, CZ: Czech Republic, DE: Germany, DK: Denmark, ES: Spain, FR: France, GR: Greece, HU: Hungary, IE: Ireland, IL: Israel, IT: Italy, LV: Latvia, MD: Republic of Moldova, NL: The Netherlands, PT: Portugal, RS: Serbia, SE: Sweden, SI: Slovenia, UK: United Kingdom. AU: Australia, EU: Europe, US: United States of America, BR: Brazil, CA: Canada.

number of thymidine (T) repeats in intron 8 (IVS8) in *cis* with R117H explains the variability of the phenotype. Indeed, the number of T repeats determines the efficiency of correct splicing of exon 9: for instance 5 T (five thymidine repeats) leads to aberrant splicing so that the resulting CFTR protein lacks exon 9; whereas 7 T and 9 T lead to normal splicing and are only rarely associated with disease manifestations and these are invariably mild (Chu et al., 1991).

Hence improved knowledge of the *CFTR* gene led to new challenges: defining which *CFTR* mutations are truly "CF disease causing". The CFTR2 project was set up to solve this dilemma (www.CFTR.2.org, 2014). CFTR2 collected data from 57% of the estimated 70,000 worldwide individuals with CF using genotype and phenotype data from CF registries in Europe and North-America. CFTR2 then determined the 'disease liability' (i.e. the probability that a given mutation is CF-causing) of *CFTR* mutations with an allele frequency of \geq 0.01% representing 96% of all CF alleles (Sosnay et al., 2013). Mutations were considered as disease causing if they fulfilled clinical criteria, functional

criteria and a penetrance analysis (Sosnay et al., 2013). In this study, the phenotype of subjects homozygous or heterozygous for F508del and any of the 22 other CFTR mutations previously defined as CF causing by the American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG) was compared to the phenotype of subjects carrying other variants. A variant was deemed disease causing by clinical criteria if the mean sweat chloride (Cl⁻) concentration derived from at least three individuals carrying the variant was ≥ 60 mM/L. In the functional analysis, processing of normal CFTR (so called "wild type", or WT) and variant was compared in different cell lines and Cl⁻ conductance of WT and variant was compared in Fisher rat thyroid (FRT) cells. For the penetrance analysis. CFTR variants occurring on the non-transmitted allele in at least 2 fertile fathers of CF children were considered as non-penetrant for CF and CBAVD. By July 2013, the ongoing CFTR2 programme had labelled 177 CFTR mutations as disease causing, 12 mutations were considered non-disease causing, 12 mutations were considered of varying clinical consequence and for 6 mutations the disease liability was still

Common CFTR mutations and regional variation in Europe.

Mutation	Alternative name	Allele frequency (% of total known) in ECFSPR 2010	Allele frequency (% of total known mutations) in 2010 ECFSPR
F508del		64.5	Most frequent mutation worldwide Southeast to Northwest increasing prevalence in Europe IL 25.5 to DK 82.6
Mutations with an overall E	EU prevalence above 1%		
G542X	Mediterranean mutation	2.5	GR 6.7, ES 6.0
N1303K	Ancient Phoenician mutation	1.9	IT 4.2
W1282X	Jewish Ashkenazi mutation	1.2	IL 22.4
G551D	Celtic mutation	1.1	IE 7.3
1717-1G>A	Italian mutation	1.0	IT 3.7
Mutations with an overall E	EU prevalence below 0.5%		
G85E			PT 3.5
A455E	Dutch mutation		NL 3.5
CFTR dele 2,3	Slavic mutation		CZ 5.2, BY 6.7
394delTT	Nordic mutation		SE 7.9, DK 2.0
3905insT	Swiss mutation		CH 2.4
R1162X	Italian mutation		IT 7.8
A561E	Portuguese mutation		PT 3.2

Abbreviations

ECFSPR - European Cystic Fibrosis Society Patient Registry.

Country codes: BY Belarus, CH Switzerland, CZ Czech Republic, DK Denmark, ES Spain, GR Greece, IE Ireland, IL Israel, IT Italy, NL the Netherlands, PT Portugal, SE Sweden.

unknown. The full mutation list is available on the CFTR2 website (www.CFTR.2.org, 2014).

Even for the mutations classified as disease causing, a large variability in disease severity between patients is apparent. Following the discovery of the CFTR gene, it soon became obvious that specific CFTR mutations mainly determine the pancreatic phenotype (pancreatic sufficient or insufficient) but not the lung disease severity (Kerem et al., 1990b). Patients with 2 mutations of classes I to III are nearly always pancreatic insufficient, but having 1 milder mutation (usually of class IV or V) is sufficient to retain pancreatic sufficiency (PS). However, subjects carrying the same 'severe' genotype, e.g. F508del-homozygous, still have a large variation in the severity of lung disease (Kerem et al., 1990a). This pointed towards the strong influence of environmental factors and modifier genes (genes outside of the CFTR gene) on clinical outcomes (Collaco et al., 2010). Many environmental factors indeed have a proven effect on lung disease course: exposure to second-hand smoke (Collaco et al., 2008), and high environmental temperatures have a negative effect (Collaco et al., 2011). On the other hand, increased treatment intensity (Johnson et al., 2003), early referral to CF centre (Lebecque et al., 2009) and adherence to therapy (Com et al., 2014) have a positive effect on lung function.

Modifier genes are sought via a candidate gene approach or more recently via genome-wide association studies (GWAS) or whole exome sequencing (WES). Since CF lung disease is characterized by relentless cycles of lung infection and inflammation, the candidate gene approach focused on several genes involved in lung defence (e.g. mannose binding lectins (Yarden et al., 2004) and immune response (e.g. *TGF-beta*) (Drumm et al., 2005)). Using larger data sets and exploiting the model of extremes of phenotype, the genome wide association study identified new *loci* that modify lung disease severity (Wright et al., 2011). For more reading on modifier genes we refer to

Table 3

List of mutations l	by CFTR	d mutation	class.
---------------------	---------	------------	--------

a review by Guillot et al. (2014). Importantly, the understanding how lung disease severity is influenced might lead to novel therapeutic strategies.

4. Mutation-specific therapies or CFTR repairing therapies

Examining the molecular and cellular basis of *CFTR* mutations has also become important for designing effective treatments correcting the basic molecular and cellular defects, i.e., mutation-specific therapies (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007). Examples include (see Fig. 4):

- Class I: Aminoglycoside antibiotics (e.g. gentamicin), and ataluren (PTC124) to some degree 'over-read' the premature termination codons thereby permitting translation to continue to the normal termination of the transcript (Wilschanski et al., 2003; Kerem et al., 2008).
- Class II: Chemical and molecular chaperones can potentially promote protein folding, allowing the mutant protein to escape ER degradation and reach the cell surface. These compounds have been termed correctors (Pedemonte et al., 2005). The corrector VX-809 which showed great success in vitro (Van Goor et al., 2011) is currently in clinical trial in combination with the potentiator ivacaftor (see below under "Clinical trials with CFTR modulators" section), as corrector monotherapy evidenced only modest results for F508del/F508del patients (Clancy et al., 2012). It is also envisaged that full correction of F508del-CFTR in CF patients will require double or even triple combination therapy [reviewed in: (Amaral & Farinha, 2013)]. Indeed, a recent report based on both experimental and protein modelling data proposes that the mechanism of action for VX-809 is compatible with putative binding of VX-809 to

Class	Type of defect	List of mutations attributed to this class
Class I	Defective protein production	Nonsense mutations: G542X, R1162X, RW1282X Deletions and insertions: CFTRdele2,3; 1078deIT; 1717 $-1G \rightarrow A$; 3659deIC; 621+1G > T
Class II	Defective protein processing	G85E, F508del, I507del, R560T, A561E, R1066C, N1303K
Class III	Defective protein regulation (gating)	G178R, S549N, S549R, G551D, G551S, G970R, G1244E, S1251N, S1255P, G1349D
Class IV	Defective protein conductance	R334W, R347P, R117H
Class V	Reduced amount of functioning protein	$2789+5G \rightarrow A, 3272-26A>G, 3849+10KbC \rightarrow T, A455E$
Class VI	Reduced cell surface stability	Rescued F508del, c.120del23
Unclassified		All other mutations, including those unknown



Fig. 2. Classes of *CFTR* mutations help to stratify correction of the basic defect by CFTR modulators through a "mutation class-specific" approach. Class I mutations, which abrogate protein production, often include mutations that generate premature stop codons, class Ia (e.g. G542X) that lead to mRNA degradation by nonsense-mediated decay or those affecting canonical splice sites class Ib (e.g. 1717 – 1C>A). Class II mutations (including the most prevalent, F508del) cause retention of a misfolded protein at the ER, and subsequent degradation in the proteasome. Class III mutations flexible (e.g. 651D). Class IV mutants exhibit reduced conduction: that is, decreased flow of ions (e.g. R334W). Class V mutants cause significant reduction in mRNA and/or protein levels – albeit with normal function – often through causing alternative splicing (e.g. 3272 – 26A>G). Class VI mutants cause significant plasma membrane instability and include F508del when rescued by most correctors (rF508del) (Amaral & Farinha, 2013).

a F508del-CFTR pocket (at NBD1:ICL4 interface) (Farinha et al., 2013). These models also indicate the existence of a second pocket in F508del-CFTR (between NBD1 and NBD2) to which chemically different compounds can still bind. These data, consistent with those from some (He et al., 2013) but not all studies (Ren et al., 2013), strongly support the hypothesis that there is potential for further synergistic F508del-CFTR correction by other compounds at distinct conformational sites. They also indicate requirement of combined therapies to fully rescue F508del-CFTR. Although based on specific conformational premises, a previous report (Okiyoneda et al., 2013) confirmed the requirement of two correctors to fully correct F508del-CFTR. Meanwhile another corrector out of came the pipeline and is under trial: compound VX-661 (sharing the molecular left-hand side structure with VX-809 but with a variant at the right-hand side) seems to have improved pharmacodynamic properties and less drug-drug interaction (Donaldson et al., 2013; Boyle et al., 2014) but probably shares the same mechanism of action.

- Class III: CFTR channel activators, which are termed potentiators (Moran & Zegarra-Moran, 2005), such as VX-770 (ivacaftor) which following demonstration of success in vitro (Van Goor et al., 2009) and in clinical trials with patients having at least one G551D mutation were already approved for the clinic by both FDA and EMA. More recently, the panel of mutations which can be rescued by ivacaftor in vitro has been expanded to include additional gating mutations (Yu et al., 2012). Following a successful clinical trial, FDA approval was extended to include 8 additional gating mutations (de Boeck et al., 2013b).
- Class IV: Compensation for reduced conductance can be achieved by increasing the overall cell surface amount of these CFTR mutants with correctors. Alternatively, by increasing the levels of channel activation, at least a partial positive response to potentiators is also expected. However, both hypotheses require testing.
- Class V: These mutations significantly reduce normal protein levels, often by affecting splicing and generating both aberrant and normal transcripts. Recent advances in the use of antisense oligonucleotides (AONs) make this promising approach look

a very powerful tool for the specific correction of missplicing (Siva et al., 2014). Meanwhile however, it is anticipated that potentiators and correctors may also improve functional levels of CFTR for these mutants. Again, this hypothesis requires further testing.

Class VI: Compounds that enhance CFTR retention/anchoring at the cell surface will benefit these mutants. These may include activators of Rac1 signalling which promote anchoring to actin cytoskeleton via NHERF1, such as hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), already demonstrated to further enhance VX-809 recued F508del-CFTR (Moniz et al., 2013).

Despite the attractiveness of this *CFTR* mutation classification it should – previously alluded to – be emphasized that some mutations have more than one class defect. The most flagrant example is actually F508del, which besides the trafficking defect (Denning et al., 1992) (class II), also has a gating defect (Dalemans et al., 1991) (class III) and a cell surface stability defect (Sharma et al., 2004) (class VI). Another example is R117H which could be classified as class IV due to a slight decrease in channel conductance but is not a CF-causing mutation per se (Thauvin-Robinet et al., 2009; de Nooijer et al., 2011). Indeed, it only leads to CF when in *cis* with 5 T which alone is class V, but not a mutation per se either (Cuppens et al., 1994). So the "real CF-causing mutation" is the complex allele R117H-5 T which can be considered as a class IV/V mutation.

5. The complexity of assessment of efficacy of CFTR modulators in a wide range of CFTR mutations

5.1. Pre-clinical assessment of CFTR-repairing molecules

Pre-clinical validation of novel compounds correcting CFTR in terms of their efficacy is required so that only the best candidates are trialled with patients. To this end investigational drugs should be tested ex vivo directly in native tissues from patients with CF or in cellular models with the rare mutations, towards a personalized-medicine approach.

Indeed, patients with CF begin to be in high demand for competing clinical trials. So far, efficacy testing on human bronchial epithelial (HBE) cells from patients with CF is considered to be the "gold standard"



for CFTR-repairing molecules going into clinical trial (Van Goor et al., 2009, 2011) and a good correlation has been found between data collected for VX-770 in HBEs and clinical trial outcomes (Ramsey et al., 2011). Despite this correlation demonstrated for this potentiator compound, it is probably insufficient to prove that primary HBEs are the gold standard for compound validation for all mutations. More data are required for additional compounds, especially for corrector candidates, in order to demonstrate that efficacy in primary HBE systems correlates well with clinical efficacy. As an example the bioavailability of small molecules, based exclusively on cell culture testing, may prevent good prediction of clinical efficacy. One example is given by the specific CFTR(inh)-172 (Ma et al., 2002) which is quite potent in inhibiting CFTR in primary HBE cultures (Van Goor et al., 2009; Fulcher et al., 2009) but has failed to demonstrate the same efficacy in human native sweat glands (Wang et al., 2004) or human intestinal tissue (MDA lab, unpublished observations).

Another example is the compound PTC-124. It was pre-validated for CF both in primary HBEs and mouse models (Du et al., 2008) and also showed initial promise for Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy (DMD/BMD) in both primary human muscle cells and in mdx mice expressing dystrophin nonsense alleles (Welch et al., 2007), yet PTC-124 has shown limited results in clinical trials for CF and DMD. For the treatment of nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy (nmDMD) patients FDA has not approved of the drug, yet but the EU's Committee on Human Medicinal Products (CHMP) adopted a positive opinion for the conditional marketing authorization of ataluren in nmDMD patients age 5 years and older (www.actionduchenne.org, 2014; Kerem et al., 2014).

Accordingly, pre-clinical validation directly on native human tissues ex vivo, such as rectal biopsies already commonly used for the diagnosis of CF in several centres both in Europe and elsewhere (Hirtz et al., 2004; Derichs et al., 2010; Sousa et al., 2012; De Boeck et al., 2013a), or even samples of explanted CF airways, becomes alternative and attractive options to assess the efficacy of compounds. This approach may complement those on primary HBEs to achieve a better prediction of compound clinical value in human individuals.

Animal models have provided valuable insights into various aspects of CF and should also play an important role in pre-clinical validation of small molecules. However, since mouse models lacking functional CFTR do not develop the characteristic manifestations of human CF (Snouwaert et al., 1992; O'Neal et al., 1993; van Doorninck et al., 1995), the value of murine animals to predict the outcome of CFTRrepairing compounds may be somewhat limited. Moreover, given that human and murine CFTR exhibit different channel characteristics (Lansdell et al., 1998) and that different regulatory pathways operate in the murine and human tissues (Nadeau, 2001), it is predicted that efficacy of small molecules in mice may not translate into equivalent effectiveness in the human lung. Indeed, as above described for primary cultures, testing of the CFTR (inh)-172 compound in mice has also shown efficient inhibition (Ma et al., 2002) and yet the same effect is not observed in human tissues. This seems to suggest that prediction of clinical efficacy based on validation of CFTR-repairing compounds in mouse models may be of limited value.

Notwithstanding, better predictions and pre-clinical validation are expected from testing of small molecules in novel animal models for CF, e.g. the pig CF model, whose anatomy, biochemistry, physiology, size, lifespan and genetics are more similar to humans than mice (Rogers et al., 2008b). However, pre-clinical testing for correctors in

Fig. 3. Percent of patients having one (light) or two (dark) mutations belonging to mutation class I (panel A), II (panel B), III (panel C), IV (panel D) or V (panel E) in different countries and regions. AT: Austria, BE: Belgium, BY: Republic of Belarus, BG: Bulgaria, CH: Switzerland, CZ: Czech Republic, DE: Germany, DK: Denmark, ES: Spain, FR: France, GR: Greece, HU: Hungary, IE: Ireland, IL: Israel, IT: Italy, LV: Latvia, MD: Republic of Moldova, NL: The Netherlands, PT: Portugal, RS: Serbia, SE: Sweden, SI: Slovenia, UK: United Kingdom. AU: Australia, EU: Europe, US: United States of America, BR: Brazil, CA: Canada.



Fig. 4. CFTR pharmacological modulators have different modes of action. (A) Read-through compounds which include aminoglycoside antibiotics (e.g., gentamicin, tobramycin) act by suppressing premature termination codons (PTCs), thus permitting translation to continue to the normal termination of the transcript and thus increasing the total amount of complete CFTR being produced in the cell. (B) Correctors (e.g., VX-809 also known as lumacaftor; VX-661) potentially promote folding of mutant CFTR protein, allowing it to escape ER degradation and reach the cell surface, thus increasing the number of channels present at the plasma membrane. (C) Stabilizers include compounds (e.g., HGF) that enhance CFTR retention/anchoring at the cell surface thus also contributing to increase the number of channels present at the cell surface. (D) Potentiators (e.g., VX-770 also known as ivacaftor) activate CFTR, i.e., increase the open probability (P_o) of the channel by regulating its gating and possibly also the conductance.

the forthcoming F508del/F508del CF pig model (Rogers et al., 2008a) may also be hampered by the leaky processing of porcine F508del-CFTR, which is described to be even higher than murine F508del-CFTR (Ostedgaard et al., 2007). An ideal animal CF model to test for efficacy of correctors of human 508del-CFTR would thus be a CFTR-/- pig engineered to express two copies of the human F508del-CFTR gene (Klymiuk et al., 2010).

5.2. Endpoints for use in clinical trials

To support 'proof of concept' in phase 2 clinical trials with compounds aimed at improving CFTR function, it is logical to choose an outcome parameter that reflects CFTR function such as sweat chloride and nasal potential difference measurement (de Boeck et al., 2014). In phase 3 clinical trials the clinical benefit of a compound must be proven. Therefore, the advent of novel therapeutic options has been paralleled by an increase in interest for endpoints that can reliably measure treatment benefit (de Boeck et al., 2014). The centralization of CF care and the associated intensified treatment from diagnosis have led to a major improvement in lung disease course. Hence currently used clinical outcome parameters such as survival and FEV₁ are no longer appropriate to assess treatment benefit over the limited treatment period of a clinical trial, especially in subjects with normal baseline FEV₁. LCI, a measure of ventilation inhomogeneity derived from inert gas washout tests, is a promising new outcome measure (Kent et al., 2014) as it detects abnormalities in subjects with normal spirometry, is reproducible and responsive to changes in treatment. In addition, correlations of LCI with quality of life and longer-term outcomes such as time to pulmonary exacerbation are emerging (Vermeulen et al., 2014).

Sensitive imaging techniques have been developed that allow quantification of structural lung damage: chest CT scores for bronchiectasis correlate with LCI and quality of life measures (Tiddens et al., 2014). Chest CT scores for air trapping seem very useful in early disease, since they are the first abnormality detected (Mott et al., 2012). Magnetic resonance imaging is one of the other promising new outcome measures since it is not associated with radiation burden (Wielputz et al., 2014).

Many *CFTR* mutations are rare, some are even unique. Randomized controlled trials are appropriate for common mutations; cross-over designs may be more appropriate for less common mutations, but for rare mutations one really enters the area of personalized medicine and alternative trial designs are needed. In modified 'n-of-1' trials, the subject is exposed to treatment over variable blinded time slots, and outcome parameters are measured repeatedly (Duan et al., 2013). Treatment effect is then estimated by comparing outcome during repeated "on" versus "off" drug periods. For these patients with rare

mutations, reliable ex vivo evaluation of treatment benefit from CFTR modulators directly on the patient tissues could complement or be an alternative for 'n-of-1' trials (Lillie et al., 2011).

Finally, as discussed in the pre-clinical assessment of compounds, airway epithelial cells derived from nasal brushings or organoids could be utilized (Dekkers et al., 2013), e.g. the mini intestinal organs grown from stem cells obtained by rectal mucosal sectional biopsies offer this possibility. Whether and how ex vivo treatment benefit translates into clinical efficacy may in the future and to some extent be extrapolated from results in patients with more common mutations.

5.3. Clinical trials with CFTR modulators

5.3.1. CFTR potentiators

Ivacaftor is the first drug on the market that is designed to improve the defective CFTR function. Ivacaftor is a CFTR potentiator that improves CFTR channel gating and is thus ideally positioned to treat patients with class III mutations (Yu et al., 2012). As described above, ivacaftor also improves gating and Cl⁻ current in cell lines with WT-CFTR and in cell lines with missense or splicing mutations associated with residual CFTR function (Van Goor et al., 2014). Ivacaftor might therefore also benefit subjects with these *CFTR* mutations.

Ivacaftor has proven efficacy in children over six year of age and adults (Accurso et al., 2010; Ramsey et al., 2011; J.C. Davies et al., 2013) with CF and at least one G551D mutation. The phase 3 studies demonstrated an average of 10% predicted improvement in FEV₁, a decrease in pulmonary exacerbations and an improvement in weight and health-related quality of life (HRQOL). Ivacaftor treatment improved lung clearance index (LCI, a measure of ventilation homogeneity) and further improved FEV₁ in patients with G551D who have preserved lung function (J. Davies et al., 2013). In "Named Patient Programs" ivacaftor also improved lung function in many of the subjects with G551D mutation who had advanced lung disease and very low FEV₁ (<40%) who had been previously excluded from participation in the randomized clinical trials (Hebestreit et al., 2013; Barry et al., 2014). In a cross-over study the efficacy of ivacaftor has also been proven in subjects who carry gating mutations other than G551D where the increase in FEV₁% predicted was in line with the G551D trials (de Boeck et al., 2013b). Furthermore, in patients with G551D, who have so far the longest ivacaftor treatment exposure, the long term benefit can be explored: treatment benefit seems to be sustained and the impact of treatment on acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* on the rate of decline of FEV₁ and on the occurrence of CF complications is being explored during continuous prospective open label follow up (McKone et al., 2013; Rowe et al., 2013).

Unfortunately, patients having at least one gating mutation are relatively rare: overall only 4% of patients but with marked differences between countries from less than 1% in Denmark, Italy and Portugal to 14% in Ireland (De Boeck et al., 2014) (Fig. 3).

In a randomized controlled trial including 69 children and adults with the R117H mutation (a class IV *CFTR* mutation), which is the most frequent mutation with residual function, the primary endpoint of improvement in FEV₁ was not met (www.ccf.org, 2014). In a prespecified sub-analysis of subjects older than 18 years, a statistically significant improvement in FEV₁ of 5% predicted was demonstrated, as was an improvement in HRQOL score.

The efficacy and safety of ivacaftor are also currently being evaluated in children with G551D aged 2 to 5 years and in subjects with splicing and missense mutations (NCT01685801) associated with residual function.

5.3.2. Premature termination codon 'read-through' therapies

CFTR modulators also include treatments directed towards premature termination codons (class I mutations). Aminoglycoside antibiotics can induce read-through of premature termination codons, resulting in a full-length functional protein (Barton-Davis et al., 1999). This led to several studies administering topical aminoglycosides; and whilst conflicting results were reported, the work provided early experience evaluating modulator drugs (Wilschanski et al., 2000; Clancy et al., 2001; Wilschanski et al., 2003). Ataluren (PTC124 from PTC Therapeutics) was studied in two open label phase 2 trials with modest results in terms of efficacy (Kerem et al., 2008; Sermet-Gaudelus et al., 2010; Wilschanski et al., 2011). A long-term placebo controlled phase 3 study showed no improvement in the primary endpoint, FEV₁% predicted, but interestingly did demonstrate less drop in lung function compared to placebo in a predefined subset of subjects who were not treated with inhaled antibiotics, which are known to influence the efficacy of ataluren (Kerem et al., 2014). Given the in vitro impact on CFTR function (Takatori et al., 2007) and the potential to over-read premature termination codons in other genetic disease conditions which have (e.g. Duchene's muscular dystrophy) (Finkel et al., 2013) further refining and development of small molecules enhancing read-through of class I (stop) mutations is anticipated.

5.3.3. CFTR correctors

Class II mutations are the most common CFTR mutations globally. In an early CFTR modulator phase 2 study in patients homozygous for F508del, ivacaftor did not alter the primary endpoint and biomarker, sweat chloride, nor did it lead to improvements in secondary endpoints including FEV₁% predicted, HROOL or weight when administered for 16 weeks (Flume et al., 2012). This was not an unexpected result given the mechanisms which are faulty in class II mutations. In a further phase 2 trial, corrector lumacaftor (VX-809) significantly lowered sweat chloride in a dose dependent fashion, but did not improve FEV₁% predicted in a 28 day study (Clancy et al., 2012). A phase 2 combination randomized control trial including lumacaftor (Vx809) and ivacaftor commenced in 2012 and the fourth cohort of this complex study evaluating higher drug doses in patients heterozygous for F508del is underway. The results of the first three cohorts have recently been published (Boyle et al., 2014). In cohort 1 (patients homozygous for F508del mutation), the co-administration of both drugs significantly improved CFTR function (measured by reduced sweat chloride) over levels with prior lumacaftor monotherapy. In cohort 2, patients homozygous for F508del-CFTR were randomized to receive placebo for 56 days or lumacaftor (200, 400 or 600 mg daily dose) for 28 days followed by lumacaftor in combination with ivacaftor 250 mg q12h for 28 days. In addition, a group of patients heterozygous for F508del-CFTR was randomized to receive placebo for 56 days or lumacaftor 600 mg daily for 28 days followed by lumacaftor with ivacaftor 250 mg q12h for 28 days. Treatment with lumacaftor alone reduced sweat chloride by day 28, but there was no significant further change during combination therapy. FEV₁ was unchanged during lumacaftor monotherapy. The short-term co-administration of lumacaftor with ivacaftor produced clinically meaningful improvements in lung function, both in absolute terms and relative to placebo. Treatment effects in heterozygous patients were less pronounced than were those in homozygous patients. Adverse events were comparable during combination therapy and placebo periods, however during lumacaftor monotherapy 12 of 97 participants experienced chest tightness or dyspnoea.

Cohort 3 evaluated 11 patients to assess the safety and pharmacokinetics of the 400 mg q12h dose of VX-809 for 28 days followed by VX-809 (400 mg q12h) in combination with ivacaftor (250 mg q12h) for 28 days. This cohort was designed to support inclusion of this dose in the phase 3 studies and showed a higher total exposure compared to 600 mg once daily dosing (details below). Safety results were similar to that of cohort 2. The most common adverse events in both groups were respiratory in nature (including one patient in the treatment group discontinuing treatment).

The pattern of lung function response observed in cohort 3 was similar to cohort 2, with a decline in FEV₁ during the VX-809 monotherapy dosing period followed by a statistically significant increase in FEV₁ during the VX-809 and ivacaftor combination dosing period. The within-group mean absolute improvement in FEV₁ observed during the combination-dosing period in cohort 3 was 6.6 percentage points.

The results of this phase 2 study provided the impetus to commence two-parallel international multi-centre phase 3 trials comparing lumacaftor (400 mg q12h or 600 mg once a day) in combination with ivacaftor (250 mg q12h) in people with CF aged 12 years and older homozygous for F508del-CFTR mutation. Recruitment of >1000 patients across the two trials was completed within 6 months and the first results are anticipated in mid-2014 (investors.vrtx.com/releasedetail. cfm?Releaseid=827435; investors.vrtx.com/releasesArchive.cfm?Year= &ReleasesType=&PageNum=2).

Another corrector compound developed by Vertex (VX-661) has shown promise in in vitro studies and a phase 2-28 day study of this compound in combination with ivacaftor has been completed. Preliminary analysis has been published in abstract form (Donaldson et al., 2013). The phase 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study included 128 people with CF ages 18 and older with two copies of the F508del mutation (investors.vrtx.com/releasesArchive.cfm? Year=&ReleasesType=&PageNum=2). In this study with a complex dosing regimen patients were randomized to VX-661 (doses ranging from 10 to 150 mg once daily), or placebo, for 28 days. A further group of patients was randomized to receive VX-661 (doses ranging from 10 to 150 mg once daily) and ivacaftor (150 mg twice daily), or placebo, for 28 days. The primary endpoints of the study were safety, tolerability and change in sweat chloride. There were significant decreases in sweat Cl⁻, both within-group and versus placebo. VX-661 was generally well-tolerated when given alone and in combination with ivacaftor. Increased FEV₁% predicted was seen for combination of VX-661 and ivacaftor for 28 days (two highest dose groups) with mean relative increases of 9.0% (p = 0.01) and 7.5% (p = 0.02) versus placebo.

Two corrector drugs have now been tested in phase 2 trials with ivacaftor although, ongoing and future trials will be required to determine if one combination provides better clinical efficacy.

6. Innovative non-CFTR based therapeutic approaches tackling the basic defect

6.1. CFTR by-pass therapies (ENaC, anoctamins)

The major virtue of these therapies is that they apply equally to all patients with CF. Whilst efforts proceed to identify novel correctors and to improve efficacy of correctors to rescue the most common defect F508del-CFTR, it is important to bear in mind that at least ~15% of all CF

patients will not benefit from F508del-CFTR corrector therapy, as they lack F508del in both alleles.

Moreover, only ~40–50% % of patients are F508del-homozygous and efficacy of correctors on patients with only one F508del is expected to be even lower than the already modest results on F508del-homozygous patients (Clancy et al., 2012). Thus, new therapies that correct the fluid and pH imbalance in CF by stimulation of non-CFTR Cl^- channels to compensate for the absence of functional CFTR are urgently needed (Fig. 5).

Current knowledge indicates that this can be achieved by normalizing ENaC, the sodium epithelial channel that is hyperactive in CF epithelia or through activation of alternative CI^- channels, of which anoctamins, representing Ca^{2+} -activated CI^- channels, are the most attractive candidates. Stimulation of a basolateral K⁺ channel could also increase the driving force for CI^- secretion and hence favour CFTR-mediated or CaCC-mediated CI^- secretion. These approaches are reviewed here, as well as other approaches aimed at restoring ion homeostasis in CF.

The absence of CFTR from the apical membrane of epithelia leads to enhanced Na⁺ conductance via ENaC in surface airway epithelial cells leading to excessive water absorption (Mall et al., 1998). So, along with the search for small molecules to restore CFTR activity, ENaC inhibitors have been sought for CF therapeutics to reduce ENaCmediated Na⁺ hyperabsorption and increase ASL hydration (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007). ENaC can be blocked by specific inhibitors such as amiloride, benzamil and phenamil and probably by activation of protein kinase C (PKC). Also, activation of purinergic receptors by ATP, UTP or denufosol inhibits ENaC, besides activating CaCC (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007). Despite the very promising phase II trial results (Deterding et al., 2007), this compound had variable results in two phase III trials (Accurso et al., 2011; Ratjen et al., 2012). Amiloride (Amil), used for the management of hypertension and congestive heart failure, was the first ENaC pharmacological inhibitor tested in CF, but studies showed no significant improvement potentially due to its short half-life in the lungs (Knowles et al., 1990). Longer-acting and more potent ENaC inhibitors (IC50 \approx 10 nM) include Amil-derivatives



Fig. 5. Pharmacological compounds used in therapeutic strategies aimed at circumventing the CFTR ion channel defect in CF airways by influencing other ion channels, "by-pass therapies". (A) In A non-CF surface airway epithelial cells the CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ secretion keeps ENaC activity under normal level. (**B**) In CF, absence of CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ secretion leads to enhanced Na⁺ conductance in surface airway epithelial cells through ENaC, which can be blocked by specific inhibitors such as amiloride, benzamil and phenamil, and probably by activation of protein kinase (PKC). The activation of purinergic receptors (P2Y₂) by ATP or UTP also inhibitis ENaC. However, excessive blocking of ENaC may cause severe harm, via undesirable accumulation of fluid in the lungs, i.e., pulmonary edema. Instead, compounds normalizing airway surface liquid (ASL) homeostasis through physiological regulation of ENaC e.g., via compounds inhibiting diacylglycerol (DAG) kinase (DGK) which catalyses conversion of DAG to phosphatidylinositol (O'Sullivan & Freedman, 2009; Anonymous, 2012a)-bisphosphate (PIP₂) – an ENaC activator, thus restoring normal ENaC activity (Almaca et al., 2013). (C) Stimulation of alternative Cl⁻ channels such as the Ca²⁺-activated Cl⁻ channels, like Anoctamin 1 (Ano1) can be achieved in CF airway epithelial cells by stimulation of luminal P2Y₂ purinergic receptors with ATP or UTP via a cascade of events that involves activation of phospholipase C (PLC) and breakdown of PIP₂ to D-myo-inositol (O'Sullivan & Freedman, 2009; Anonymous, 2012a; Sosnay et al., 2013)-trisphosphate (IP₃) or by stimulators of CaCCs like INO-4995 (Tian et al., 2013) or by yet unidentified agonists of outwardly rectifying Cl⁻ channels (ORCCs), recently identified as Anoctamin 6 (Ano6). (**D**) When there is residual CFTR-mediated Cl⁻ secretion (class IV–VI mutations), increasing the electrical driving force for luminal Cl⁻ secretion by stimulation of the basolateral Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel SK4 by the benzimi

such as benzamil and PS552 (Parion Sciences, Durham, NC), both yielding disappointing results in CF trials (Hirsh et al., 2006; Donaldson & Boucher, 2007). Excessive blocking of ENaC may cause severe harm, via undesirable accumulation of fluid in the lungs, i.e. pulmonary oedema (Althaus et al., 2011). Instead, compounds which normalize ASL homeostasis are needed through physiological regulation of ENaC. If achieved independently of CFTR, such ENaC normalization would have the virtue of correcting Na⁺ ion transport in CF patients bearing any *CFTR* mutation. Despite detailed knowledge on how several ENaC regulators control both channel numbers at the cell surface and its open probability (Butterworth et al., 2009), many aspects of ENaC biogenesis, trafficking, and regulation remain obscure.

A recent study, performing a large-scale siRNA screen in combination with live cell microscopy in human airway epithelial cells and screening over 6000 genes identified over 1500 candidates, evenly divided between ENaC channel inhibitors and activators (Almaca et al., 2013). Detailed investigation showed that inhibition of DGKL, a protein involved in PiP2 metabolism, downgrades ENaC activity, leading to normalization of both Na⁺ and fluid absorption in CF airways to non-CF levels in primary human lung cells from CF patients (Almaca et al., 2013). DGKL thus seems a promising new drug candidate for CF.

Secondly, amongst possible alternative Cl⁻ channels, anoctamins 1 and 6 (ANO1; ANO6) stand out as key candidates to potentially bypass lack of CFTR in CF [reviewed in (Kunzelmann et al., 2011)]. ANO1 (TMEM16A) is the much sought after Ca²⁺-activated Cl⁻ channel (CaCC) present in many CF affected epithelial cells (Caputo et al., 2008; Schroeder et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2008), and which has been shown to transport HCO₃⁻ as well as Cl⁻ after physiological stimulation (Jung et al., 2013). ANO6 (TMEM16F) was recently identified as an essential component of the outwardly rectifying Cl⁻ channel (ORCC), which is also involved in epithelial anion transport (Martins et al., 2011). Notably, knockout of ANO1 in mouse airways leads to a CF-like phenotype, reflecting the importance of anoctamins for airway anion secretion (Rock et al., 2009; Kunzelmann et al., 2012). The demonstration that transient ANO1 currents ATP-activated through luminal P2Y2 purinergic receptors in CF airways can be further pharmacologically potentiated (twice of that observed in non-CF airways) suggests that these channels may be a valid target for the treatment of CF (Tian et al., 2013).

Thirdly, increasing of electrical driving of luminal Cl⁻ secretion by stimulation of the basolateral Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channel SK4 by the benzimidazol compound 1-EBIO (Roth et al., 2011) or activation of cAMP-regulated K⁺ channels (KvLQT1) by agonists of the cAMP pathway, such as ß-adrenergic compounds (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007) and blockers of phosphodiesterase (PDE) like amrinone or milrinone (Amaral & Kunzelmann, 2007) are all potential approaches to be explored in by-passing therapies for CF.

6.2. Gene & cell therapies

To date, gene therapy has failed to demonstrate a clinical benefit for CF. Notwithstanding, much knowledge has been gained from the preclinical and clinical studies that were performed. This includes key information about endpoints for efficacy assessment (Griesenbach et al., 2008, 2012) and the basic biology of the epithelium that is essential for a better understanding of the CF pathophysiology. Most recent efforts have been carried out by the UK CF Gene Therapy Consortium [reviewed in: (Armstrong et al., 2014)]. The results of the large multidose (12 administrations at monthly intervals) gene therapy clinical trial using a lipid vector will be available in the second half of 2014.

One major problem of single-dose gene therapy achieved by vectors that insert its CFTR transgene into the hosting cell (e.g. lentiviruses) is that cells lose expression of the "intruding" gene over time, lasting only for 4–6 weeks. This is mostly due to the usage of a "shorter version" of the *CFTR* gene (called complementary DNA, or cDNA) which is only ~6 kb instead of the long (~190 kb), full genomic CFTR gene. The absence of intercalating regions (introns) in such "shorter gene versions" leads

to silencing of the genes by complex mechanisms, still not fully elucidated. Thus, one plausible alternative is to use larger CFTR constructions which, however, due to their large size cannot be inserted into conventional vectors. Human artificial chromosomes (HACs) containing half of the CFTR genomic sequence were already inserted into mammalian cells by suicidal bacteria and shown to maintain CFTR expression over 50 cell generations (Laner et al., 2005; Rocchi et al., 2010). Although with many barriers to overcome, such an approach may still hold promise of gene therapy success for CF.

Another approach which is becomingly increasingly attractive is the genomic correction of a mutation in the patient's own cells (Murphy & Atala, 2013). The classical approach of CFTR gene targeting to correct a mutation by Small Fragment Homologous Replacement (SFHR) exhibited very low efficiency: ~4% (Colosimo et al., 2001). However, more recently it was shown that it is possible to edit the genome of cells at much higher efficiencies using Transcription Activator-Like Effector Nuclease (TALEN) or Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR/CRISPR-associated (Cas) systems) technologies (Gaj et al., 2013; Mali et al., 2013) in parallel to differentiate human embryonic pluripotent stem cells (hESCs), into a fully differentiated airway epithelium [reviewed in: (Siller et al., 2013)]. Moreover, although historically hESCs embryonic stem cells were thought to be the most likely workable source of pluripotent stem cells, Nobel-prize winner Yamanaka has shown the feasibility of generating induced pluripotent cells (iPS) from adult fibroblast cultures (Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006). This breakthrough has opened new avenues for generation of stem cells and their differentiation into any tissue including lung epithelium for therapeutic applications such as CF [reviewed in: (Moodley et al., 2013)].

So, combination of these approaches where somatic cells can be obtained from CF patients, corrected in vitro by TALLEN/CRISPRs to correct genomic CFTR and then direct differentiation to generate a functional airway epithelium to be administered to the patient with CF appears today as a potentially feasible approach. In the context of CF, a proof of concept study has already demonstrated the feasibility of this approach in epithelial organoids (Schwank et al., 2013). Indeed, the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system was used to correct the CFTR *locus* by homologous recombination in cultured intestinal stem cells of patients (Schwank et al., 2013).

7. Impact of new treatments on the clinical course of CF, clinical practice and clinical decision making — perspective from the CF clinic

The potential for CFTR modulator therapy and other strategies that attack the basic CF defect has been a tremendous boost to the CF community and generally very positive for those giving and receiving care. Despite this, there are challenges beyond those posed by the complexity of CFTR dysfunction.

7.1. Natural history of CF

The natural history of CF has changed and an indication to support this is the reduction in the rates of lung function decline from historical rates of 2-3% per year loss of FEV₁% predicted to ~0.5% per year (Que et al., 2006). Consequently, the number of adults with CF is rapidly increasing. As discussed earlier, the need for 'new' trial outcome measures has been clear as studies using traditional trial endpoints (e.g. change in lung function) demand vast numbers of patients to achieve sufficient power.

It is now important to see if improved short-term outcomes of CFTR modulators in the setting of clinical trials are maintained in the "real world" setting over longer time periods and ultimately whether such therapies change the natural history of the disease. Furthermore, as many children less than five years of age have structural changes of bronchiectasis (Mott et al., 2012; Sly et al., 2013), it is important that

trials be performed in children under the age of six (the lower age limit in most CF clinical trials which have included children) (Stick & Sly, 2011). Short-term studies are ongoing, examining the effect of ivacaftor in young children and the results are eagerly awaited.

Over the past 20 years, a number of effective therapies have moved from clinical trials to the clinic including dornase-alpha, tobramycin solution inhalation and hypertonic saline and macrolide antibiotics amongst many others (O'Sullivan & Freedman, 2009; www.cff.org/ research/drugdevelopmentpipeline). These may well not only have contributed to the decrease in the rate of lung function decline but also have impacted on trial design, outcome measures and numbers required to study (Liou et al., 2010). In addition, the burden of daily treatments has increased and it is well known that adherence to complex regimens of CF therapies is poor in some and inadequate in many (Abbott et al., 1994; Sawicki et al., 2009; Sawicki & Tiddens, 2012). Thus studies of strategies which promote adherence are important as it may be necessary for combinations of CFTR modulators to be prescribed for many years as has been the case in the treatment of another chronic disease, HIV infection (Pennings, 2013).

7.2. CFTR modulators

The promise of life-changing therapies for CF was raised following the discovery of the *CFTR* gene in 1989 (Riordan et al., 1989). With the advent of CFTR modulators and especially as the phase 3 trials were launched (Opar, 2011), the enthusiasm to participate has led to very rapid recruitment for studies (www.CFTR.2.org, 2014). At times when trial participation was limited, disappointment has occurred in the CF community, amongst CF teams and even beyond as has been seen by the volatility of share prices of companies investing in novel compounds. In recent years, social media has also provided a conduit for communication about CF care in general between patients and families and discussion of current and ongoing, as well as future clinical trials and provides challenges in limiting discussion about the impact of therapy on individuals actively participating in studies (Foulkes, 2011).

7.3. New dilemmas

Several clinical dilemmas have emerged over the past two years as ivacaftor has been prescribed in the clinic. In many, the impact on health and quality of life is dramatic. The access of ivacaftor on a "Named Patient Program" prior to registration and or remuneration has allowed patients with advanced disease access to the drug, e.g. patients on the active lung transplant waiting list. What should the patient do and what should the CF team advise if the patient improves but remains in respiratory failure and a donor becomes available (Barry et al., 2014)? Secondly, the improved health in young women after commencing on ivacaftor may lead some to consider "am I well enough to have a baby?" Will the woman's health deteriorate on cessation and what will be the impact on a potential pregnancy? Thirdly, what should the clinicians' advise be when confronted with a patient who wishes to stop other maintenance treatments for CF as they are time consuming and now perceived (by the patient) to be unnecessary as the patient feels so well. Finally, consultations in the clinic have become very focused on CFTR modulators, their study and 'what is my CF gene'? Having a systematic approach to address questions as they arise in the clinic and where required access to extended CFTR gene testing should be considered.

To date, one CFTR modulator, ivacaftor, has been proven to be effective in children over six years of age and adults and the results of other studies are awaited. Industry is currently working on the development of many further CFTR modulators and these may come to clinical trial in the next several years. Regulatory approval of ivacaftor was provided by the FDA and the EMA over the past 18 months and funding approved in many jurisdictions. The cost of ivacaftor is not publically disclosed in most countries; however it is known to be extremely high compared with other therapies in CF and has been subject of some discussion in the medical literature (Bush & Simmonds, 2012; O'Sullivan et al., 2013; Cohen & Raftery, 2014). As the prevalence of the CF mutation, G551D, varies from country to country, the financial impact on the CF health budget varies. In Ireland, 14% of patients have this mutation, whereas in The Netherlands and Belgium it is rare (De Boeck et al., 2014). In high prevalence countries, it is possible that the cost of ivacaftor could exceed the current total budget for CF care and has and will continue to be contentious where there are so many competing demands on the limited health budgets (Bush & Simmonds, 2012; Cohen & Raftery, 2014). In February 2014, the FDA extended approval for ivacaftor to include another eight CFTR-gating mutations and it is estimated that this will allow an additional 150 patients in USA access to this therapy (investors.vrtx.com/releasedetail.cfm?Releaseid= 827435). It is unclear how this will impact on care in the future as more CFTR modulators become available. As the readership of P&T would well appreciate the development and study of new drugs requires enormous investment and is a high risk venture with many compounds progressing to phase 3 trials not proceeding to regulatory approval (Simon, 2008; Garazzino et al., 2013). To support this investment, the NIH has recently launched a programme (Accelerating Medicine Partnership; AMP) which aims to bring together government, not-for-profit organisations and industry to accelerate drug discovery by enhancing current pathways (Anonymous, 2014).

8. Conclusions

Since the discovery of the CFTR gene, the understanding of the complex biology of CFTR protein function has advanced significantly and allowed prospects of developments of therapies specifically designed to address the basic defects of CF. Several CFTR modulator therapies including 'potentiators', premature termination codon 'read-through' therapies and 'correctors' that underwent extensive in vitro evaluation are at present in late phase clinical trials. Ivacaftor, the first of these therapies, has demonstrated 'proof-of-principle' for CFTR modulators and is now licenced for global use in patients with the G551D CFTR mutation. Ongoing clinical trials are examining the safety and efficacy of first generation combination corrector/potentiator drugs for the most common CFTR mutation, F508del and results are eagerly awaited. Other CFTR modulator drugs have been identified and are currently being evaluated in pre-clinical studies and early phase clinical trials. Recent improvements in clinical care have resulted in improvement in outcomes for people with CF including reduced rates of lung function decline. Therefore determination of benefit of new therapies has led to intense investigation of clinical trial end-points such as lung clearance index. Whilst there are significant challenges to deliver these new therapies, there is much excitement in the CF community for therapies which have the potential to alter the natural history of CF. To obtain our ultimate goal of full CFTR correction in all patients, we need to continue basic biology research efforts.

Conflicts of interest

Scott Bell has participated and been supported to attend Investigator Meetings for Vertex Pharmaceuticals, has been a member of a Writing Group for manuscript preparation (combination ivacaftor/lumacaftor phase 2 study) and has been a site PI for a number of Vertexsponsored trials. He has been supported to attend and to speak at Symposia (Gilead).

Kris De Boeck has served on advisory boards for Vertex, Ablynx, Aptalis, Galapagos, Gilead, Pharmaxis and PTC. She has been the principal investigator for studies initiated by Vertex, Gilead, Pharmaxis and PTC.

Margarida Amarail has served as a consultant to Vertex and Galapagos, has been supported to attend and to speak at Symposia (Novartis, Gilead and Vertex) and to participate in an educational grant programme by Facilitate Ltd.

Permission

Figs. 1–3 have been reproduced and modified with permission of the publisher (De Boeck et al., 2014).

Acknowledgments

SCB is supported by a Queensland Health, Health Research Fellowship (QCOS013795). Work in the Bell Lab is supported by QCH Program Grant (#50005) and the TPCH Foundation (#MS2010-42). Work in the Amaral lab has been supported by strategic grants PEst-OE/BIA/UI4046/2011 (BioFIG) and FCT/MCTES PTDC/SAU-GMG/ 122299/2010 from FCT, Portugal, and CFF-Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, USA, Ref. 7207534.

The authors are grateful to Prof. Karl Kunzelmann (University of Regensburg, Germany) for the discussion and comments. We thank the following cystic fibrosis registries for allowing the use and presentation of their data: Alexander Elbert and Bruce Marshall for the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Registry, USA; Aida Fernandes, Jackie Ruderman, and Anne Stephenson for the Canadian cystic fibrosis registry; Geoff Sims and Cystic Fibrosis Australia, custodian of the Australian CF registry data; Francisco Reis, Luis Vincete Ribeiro Ferreira da Silva Filho, and Neiva Damaceno for the Brazilian cystic fibrosis registry and the individual country representatives of the European Cystic Fibrosis Society Patient Registry (www.ecfs.eu/projects/ecfs-patient-registry/steeringcommittee). We also thank everyone who works to collect data for cystic fibrosis registries and patients with cystic fibrosis who consent to have their data collected.

References

- Abbott, J., Dodd, M., Bilton, D., & Webb, A. K. (1994, Feb). Treatment compliance in adults with cystic fibrosis. Thorax 49(2), 115-120 (PubMed PMID: 8128399. Pubmed Central PMCID: 474321. Epub 1994/02/01. eng).
- Accurso, F. J., Moss, R. B., Wilmott, R. W., Anbar, R. D., Schaberg, A. E., Durham, T. A., et al. (2011, Mar 1). Denufosol tetrasodium in patients with cystic fibrosis and normal to mildly impaired lung function. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(5), 627-634 (PubMed PMID: 21169471)
- Accurso, F. J., Rowe, S. M., Clancy, J. P., Boyle, M. P., Dunitz, J. M., Durie, P. R., et al. (2010, Nov 18). Effect of VX-770 in persons with cystic fibrosis and the G551D-CFTR mutation. N Engl J Med 363(21), 1991-2003 (PubMed PMID: 21083385. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3148255. Epub 2010/11/19. eng).
- Almaca, J., Faria, D., Sousa, M., Uliyakina, I., Conrad, C., Sirianant, L., et al. (2013, Sep 12). High-content siRNA screen reveals global ENaC regulators and potential cystic fibrosis therapy targets. Cell 154(6), 1390-1400 (PubMed PMID: 24034256. Epub 2013/ 09/17. eng)
- Althaus, M., Clauss, W. G., & Fronius, M. (2011). Amiloride-sensitive sodium channels and pulmonary edema. Pulm Med 2011, 830320 (PubMed PMID: 21637371. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3100597. Epub 2011/06/04. eng).
- Amaral, M. D. (2004). CFTR and chaperones: processing and degradation. J Mol Neurosci 23(1-2), 41-48 (PubMed PMID: 15126691. Epub 2004/05/06. eng).
- Amaral, M. D., & Farinha, C. M. (2013). Rescuing mutant CFTR: a multi-task approach to a better outcome in treating cystic fibrosis. Curr Pharm Des 19(19), 3497-3508 (PubMed PMID: 23331027. Epub 2013/01/22. eng).
- Amaral, M. D., & Kunzelmann, K. (2007, Jul). Molecular targeting of CFTR as a therapeutic approach to cystic fibrosis. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28(7), 334-341 (PubMed PMID: 17573123. Epub 2007/06/19. eng).
- Anonymous (2002). The molecular genetic epidemiology of cystic fibrosis. Human Genetics Programme, Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion, World Health Organization: Report of a joint meeting of WHO/ECFTN/ICF(M)A/ECFS.
- Anonymous (2012a). European Cystic Fibrosis Patient Registry Annual Data Report 2008-2009. Karup, Denmark: Euorpean Cystic Fibrosis Society.
- Anonymous (2012b). Canadian Cystic Fibrosis Registry 2011 Annual Report. Toronto, Canada: Cystic Fibrosis Canada.
- Anonymous (2013a). Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Patient Registry 2012 Annual Data Report. Bethesda, Maryland: © 2013 Cystic Fibrosis Foundation.
- Anonymous (2013b). UK CF Registry Annual Data Report 2011. London, UK: © Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2013.
- Anonymous (2013c). Cystic Fibrosis Australia 2012 15th Annual Report from the Cystic Fibrosis Data Registry. Sydney, Australia: Cystic Fibrosis Australia. Anonymous (2013d). Port CFNZ 2012 National Data Registry. Auckland, New Zealand:
- Cystic Fibrosis Association of New Zealand.

- Anonymous (2014, Feb 15), Accelerating drug discovery, Lancet 383(9917), 575 (PubMed PMID: 24529455. Epub 2014/02/18. eng)
- Armstrong, D. K., Cunningham, S., Davies, J. C., & Alton, E. W. (2014, may). Gene therapy in cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child 99(5), 465–468, http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ archdischild-2012-302158 (Epub 2014 Jan 24).
- Barry, P. J., Plant, B. J., Nair, A., Bicknell, S., Simmonds, N. J., Bell, N. J., et al. (2014, Feb 13). Effects of Ivacaftor in cystic fibrosis patients carrying the G551D mutation with severe lung disease. Chest 146(1), 152–158, http://dx.doi.org/10.1378/chest.13-2397 (PubMed PMID: 24522694, Epub 2014/02/14, Eng).
- Barton-Davis, E. R., Cordier, L., Shoturma, D. I., Leland, S. E., & Sweeney, H. L. (1999, Aug). Aminoglycoside antibiotics restore dystrophin function to skeletal muscles of mdx mice. J Clin Invest 104(4), 375–381 (PubMed PMID: 10449429. Pubmed Central PMCID: 481050. Epub 1999/08/17. eng).
- Bell, S. C., & Reid, D. W. (2014). Challenges of adult cystic fibrosis care. In M. Mall, & J. S. Elborn (Eds.), ERS Monograph Cystic Fibrosis. No. 64 (pp. 286–303).
- Bobadilla, J. L., Macek, M., Jr., Fine, J. P., & Farrell, P. M. (2002, Jun). Cystic fibrosis: a worldwide analysis of CFTR mutations-correlation with incidence data and application to screening, Hum Mutat 19(6), 575-606 (PubMed PMID: 12007216, Epub 2002/05/ 15. eng).
- Boyle, M. P., Bell, S. C., Konstan, M. W., McColley, S., Rowe, S. M., Reitschel, E., et al. (July 2014). Randomised trial of combined CFTR corrector and potentiator therapy in F508del-CFTR cystic fibrosis. The Lancet Respiratory Medicine 2(7), 527-538, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70132-8.
- Boyle, M. P., & De Boeck, K. (2013, Apr). A new era in the treatment of cystic fibrosis: correction of the underlying CFTR defect. Lancet Respir Med 1(2), 158-163 (PubMed PMID: 24429096. Epub 2014/01/17. eng)
- Bush, A., & Simmonds, N. J. (2012, May). Hot off the breath: 'I've a cost for'-the 64 million dollar question. Thorax 67(5), 382-384 (PubMed PMID: 22407889. Epub 2012/03/13. eng)
- Butterworth, M. B., Edinger, R. S., Frizzell, R. A., & Johnson, J. P. (2009, Jan). Regulation of the epithelial sodium channel by membrane trafficking. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 296(1), F10-F24 (PubMed PMID: 18508877. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2636908. Epub 2008/05/30. eng).
- Caputo, A., Caci, E., Ferrera, L., Pedemonte, N., Barsanti, C., Sondo, E., et al. (2008, Oct 24). TMEM16A, a membrane protein associated with calcium-dependent chloride channel activity. Science 322(5901), 590-594 (PubMed PMID: 18772398. Epub 2008/09/ 06. eng).
- Chu, C. S., Trapnell, B. C., Murtagh, J. J., Jr., Moss, J., Dalemans, W., Jallat, S., et al. (1991, Jun). Variable deletion of exon 9 coding sequences in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene mRNA transcripts in normal bronchial epithelium. EMBO J 10(6), 1355-1363 (PubMed PMID: 1709095. Pubmed Central PMCID: 452795. Epub 1991/06/11. eng).
- Clancy, J. P., Bebok, Z., Ruiz, F., King, C., Jones, J., Walker, L., et al. (2001, Jun). Evidence that systemic gentamicin suppresses premature stop mutations in patients with cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 163(7), 1683-1692 (PubMed PMID: 11401894. Epub 2001/06/13. eng).
- Clancy, J. P., Rowe, S. M., Accurso, F. J., Aitken, M. L., Amin, R. S., Ashlock, M. A., et al. (2012, Jan). Results of a phase IIa study of VX-809, an investigational CFTR corrector compound, in subjects with cystic fibrosis homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. Thorax 67(1), 12–18 (PubMed PMID: 21825083. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3746507. Epub 2011/08/10. eng)
- Cohen, D., & Raftery, J. (2014). Paying twice: questions over high cost of cystic fibrosis drug developed with charitable funding. BMJ 348, g1445.
- Collaco, J. M., Blackman, S. M., McGready, J., Naughton, K. M., & Cutting, G. R. (2010, Nov). Quantification of the relative contribution of environmental and genetic factors to variation in cystic fibrosis lung function. J Pediatr 157(5), 802-7 e1-3 (PubMed PMID: 20580019. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2948620. Epub 2010/06/ 29. eng)
- Collaco, J. M., McGready, J., Green, D. M., Naughton, K. M., Watson, C. P., Shields, T., et al. (2011). Effect of temperature on cystic fibrosis lung disease and infections: a replicated cohort study. PLoS One 6(11), e27784 (PubMed PMID: 22125624. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3220679. Epub 2011/11/30. eng).
- Collaco, J. M., Vanscoy, L., Bremer, L., McDougal, K., Blackman, S. M., Bowers, A., et al. (2008, Jan 30). Interactions between secondhand smoke and genes that affect cystic fibrosis lung disease. JAMA 299(4), 417-424 (PubMed PMID: 18230779. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3139475. Epub 2008/01/31. eng).
- Colombo, C., & Littlewood, J. (2011, Jun). The implementation of standards of care in Europe: state of the art. J Cyst Fibros 10(Suppl. 2), S7-S15 (PubMed PMID: 21658645. eng).
- Colosimo, A., Goncz, K. K., Novelli, G., Dallapiccola, B., & Gruenert, D. C. (2001, Feb). Targeted correction of a defective selectable marker gene in human epithelial cells by small DNA fragments. Mol Ther 3(2), 178-185 (PubMed PMID: 11237674. Epub 2001/03/10. eng).
- Com, G., Carroll, J. L., Castro, M. M., Tang, X., Jambhekar, S., & Berlinski, A. (2014 Apr). Predictors and outcome of low initial forced expiratory volume in 1 second measurement in children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr 164(4), 832-838, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.jpeds.2013.11.064 (Epub 2014 Jan 10).
- Cuppens, H., Teng, H., Raeymaekers, P., De, B. C., & Cassiman, J. J. (1994, Apr). CFTR haplotype backgrounds on normal and mutant CFTR genes. Hum Mol Genet 3(4), 607–614 (PubMed PMID: 7520797. Epub 1994/04/01. eng).
- Dalemans, W., Barbry, P., Champigny, G., Jallat, S., Dott, K., Dreyer, D., et al. (1991, Dec 19-26). Altered chloride ion channel kinetics associated with the delta F508 cvstic fibrosis mutation. Nature 354(6354), 526-528 (PubMed PMID: 1722027. Epub 1991/12/ 19, eng).
- Davies, J., Sheridan, H., Bell, N., Cunningham, S., Davis, S. D., Elborn, J. S., et al. (2013, Oct). Assessment of clinical response to ivacaftor with lung clearance index in cystic

fibrosis patients with a G551D-CFTR mutation and preserved spirometry: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med* 1(8), 630–638 (PubMed PMID: 24461666. Epub 2014/01/28. eng).

- Davies, J. C., Wainwright, C. E., Canny, G. J., Chilvers, M. A., Howenstine, M. S., Munck, A., et al. (2013, Jun 1). Efficacy and safety of ivacaftor in patients aged 6 to 11 years with cystic fibrosis with a G551D mutation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 187(11), 1219–1225 (PubMed PMID: 23590265. eng).
- De Boeck, K., Fajac, I., & Ratjen, F. (2014). End-points and biomarkers for clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. In M. Mall, & J. S. Elborn (Eds.), ERS Monograph Cystic Fibrosis. No. 64 (pp. 104–115).
- De Boeck, K., Kent, L., Davies, J., Derichs, N., Amaral, M., Rowe, S. M., et al. (2013, Jan). CFTR biomarkers: time for promotion to surrogate end-point. *Eur Respir J* 41(1), 203–216 (PubMed PMID: 22878883. Epub 2012/08/11. eng).
- De Boeck, K., Paskavitz, J., Chen, X., & Higgins, M. (2013). Ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in cystic fibrosis patients who have a non-G551D-CFTR gating mutation: phase 3, part 1 results. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 48(36), 292.
- De Boeck, K., Zolin, A., Cuppens, H., Olesen, H. V., & Viviani, L. (2014, Jan 15). The relative frequency of CFTR mutation classes in European patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 13(4), 403–409, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcf.2013.12.003 (PubMed PMID: 24440181. Epub 2014/01/21. Eng).
- de Nooijer, R. A., Nobel, J. M., Arets, H. G., Bot, A., Van Bemmel, D. M., de Jonge, H., et al. (2011). Assessment of CFTR function in homozygous R117H-7 T subjects. J Cyst Fibros 10(5), 326–332.
- Dekkers, J. F., Wiegerinck, C. L., de JHR, Bronsveld I., Janssens, H. M., de, W-dGKM, et al. (2013, Jul). A functional CFTR assay using primary cystic fibrosis intestinal organoids. *Nat Med* 19(7), 939–945 (PubMed PMID: 23727931. Epub 2013/06/ 04. eng).
- Denning, G. M., Ostedgaard, L. S., & Welsh, M. J. (1992, Aug). Abnormal localization of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in primary cultures of cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. *J Cell Biol* 118(3), 551–559 (PubMed PMID: 1379244. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2289545. Epub 1992/08/01. eng).
- Derichs, N., Sanz, J., Von KT, Stolpe C., Zapf, A., Tummler, B., et al. (2010, Jul). Intestinal current measurement for diagnostic classification of patients with questionable cystic fibrosis: validation and reference data. *Thorax* 65(7), 594–599 (PubMed PMID: 20627915. Epub 2010/07/16. eng).
- Deterding, R. R., Lavange, L. M., Engels, J. M., Mathews, D. W., Coquillette, S. J., Brody, A. S., et al. (2007, Aug 15). Phase 2 randomized safety and efficacy trial of nebulized denufosol tetrasodium in cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 176(4), 362–369 (PubMed PMID: 17446337).
- Dijk, F. N., & Fitzgerald, D. A. (2012, Dec). The impact of newborn screening and earlier intervention on the clinical course of cystic fibrosis. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 13(4), 220–225 (PubMed PMID: 23069119. Epub 2012/10/17. eng).
- Dodge, J. A., Lewis, P. A., Stanton, M., & Wilsher, J. (2007, Mar). Cystic fibrosis mortality and survival in the UK: 1947–2003. Eur Respir J 29(3), 522–526 (PubMed PMID: 17182652. Epub 2006/12/22. eng).
- Donaldson, S. H., & Boucher, R. C. (2007, Nov). Sodium channels and cystic fibrosis. Chest 132(5), 1631–1636 (PubMed PMID: 17998363. Epub 2007/11/14. eng).
- Donaldson, S., Pilewski, J., Griese, M., Dong, Q., & Lee, P. S. (2013). VX-661, an investigational CFTR corrector, in combination with ivacaftor, a CFTR potentiator, in patients with CF and homozygous for the F508Del-CFTR mutation: Interim analysis. Vol 12. J Cyst Fibros 2(Suppl. 1), S14.
- Drumm, M. L., Konstan, M. W., Schluchter, M. D., Handler, A., Pace, R., Zou, F., et al. (2005, Oct 6). Genetic modifiers of lung disease in cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med 353(14), 1443–1453 (PubMed PMID: 16207846. Epub 2005/10/07. eng).
- Du, M., Liu, X., Welch, E. M., Hirawat, S., Peltz, S. W., & Bedwell, D. M. (2008, Feb 12). PTC124 is an orally bioavailable compound that promotes suppression of the human CFTR-C542X nonsense allele in a CF mouse model. 105(6), 2064–2069 (PubMed PMID: 18272502. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2538881. Epub 2008/02/ 15. eng).
- Duan, N., Kravitz, R. L., & Schmid, C. H. (2013, Aug). Single-patient (n-of-1) trials: a pragmatic clinical decision methodology for patient-centered comparative effectiveness research. J Clin Epidemiol 66(8 Suppl.), S21–S28 (PubMed PMID: 23849149. Epub 2013/07/17. eng).
- Elborn, J. S., Shale, D. J., & Britton, J. R. (1991, Dec). Cystic fibrosis: current survival and population estimates to the year 2000. *Thorax* 46(12), 881–885 (PubMed PMID: 1792634. Pubmed Central PMCID: 463492. Epub 1991/12/01. eng).
- Farinha, C. M., King-Underwood, J., Sousa, M., Correia, A. R., Henriques, B. J., Roxo-Rosa, M., et al. (2013, Jul 25). Revertants, low temperature, and correctors reveal the mechanism of F508del-CFTR rescue by VX-809 and suggest multiple agents for full correction. *Chem Biol* 20(7), 943–955 (PubMed PMID: 23890012. Epub 2013/07/31. eng).
- Finkel, R. S., Flanigan, K. M., Wong, B., Bonnemann, C., Sampson, J., Sweeney, H. L., et al. (2013). Phase 2a study of ataluren-mediated dystrophin production in patients with nonsense mutation Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *PLoS One 8*(12), e81302 (PubMed PMID: 24349052. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3859499. Epub 2013/12/19. eng).
- Flume, P. A., Liou, T. G., Borowitz, D. S., Li, H., Yen, K., Ordonez, C. L., et al. (2012, Sep). Ivacaftor in subjects with cystic fibrosis who are homozygous for the F508del-CFTR mutation. *Chest* 142(3), 718–724 (PubMed PMID: 22383668. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3435140. Epub 2012/03/03. eng).
- Foulkes, M. (2011, May). Social contexts, social media, and human subjects research. Am J Bioeth 11(5), 35–36 (PubMed PMID: 21534149. Epub 2011/05/03. eng).
- Fulcher, M. L., Gabriel, S. E., Olsen, J. C., Tatreau, J. R., Gentzsch, M., Livanos, E., et al. (2009, Jan). Novel human bronchial epithelial cell lines for cystic fibrosis research. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 296(1), L82–L91 (PubMed PMID: 18978040. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2636952. Epub 2008/11/04. eng).

- Gaj, T., Gersbach, C. A., & Barbas, C. F., III (2013, Jul). ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. *Trends Biotechnol* 31(7), 397–405 (PubMed PMID: 23664777. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3694601. Epub 2013/05/15. eng).
- Garazzino, S., Lutsar, I., Bertaina, C., Tovo, P. A., & Sharland, M. (2013, Aug). New antibiotics for paediatric use: a review of a decade of regulatory trials submitted to the European Medicines Agency from 2000—why aren't we doing better? Int J Antimicrob Agents 42(2), 99–118 (PubMed PMID: 23810180. Epub 2013/07/03. eng).
- George, P. M., Banya, W., Pareek, N., Bilton, D., Cullinan, P., Hodson, M. E., et al. (2010). Improved survival at low lung function in cystic fibrosis: cohort study from 1990 to 2007. BMJ 342, d1008 (PubMed PMID: 21357627. eng).
- Gregory, R. J., Rich, D. P., Cheng, S. H., Souza, D. W., Paul, S., Manavalan, P., et al. (1991, Aug). Maturation and function of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator variants bearing mutations in putative nucleotide-binding domains 1 and 2. *Mol Cell Biol* 11(8), 3886–3893 (PubMed PMID: 1712898. Pubmed Central PMCID: 361177. Epub 1991/08/01. eng).
- Griesenbach, U., Inoue, M., Meng, C., Farley, R., Chan, M., Newman, N. K., et al. (2012, Nov 1). Assessment of F/HN-pseudotyped lentivirus as a clinically relevant vector for lung gene therapy. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 186(9), 846–856 (PubMed PMID: 22955314. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3530223. Epub 2012/09/08. eng).
- Griesenbach, U., Munkonge, F. M., Sumner-Jones, S., Holder, E., Smith, S. N., Boyd, A. C., et al. (2008). Assessment of CFTR function after gene transfer in vitro and in vivo. *Methods Mol Biol* 433, 229–242 (PubMed PMID: 18679627. Epub 2008/08/06. eng).
- Guillot, L., Beucher, J., Tabary, O., Le Rouzic, P., Clement, A., & Corvol, H. (2014). Lung disease modifier genes in cystic fibrosis. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 52C, 83–93, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2014.02.011 (Epub 2014 Feb 22).
- He, L., Kota, P., Aleksandrov, A. A., Cui, L., Jensen, T., Dokholyan, N. V., et al. (2013, Feb). Correctors of DeltaF508 CFTR restore global conformational maturation without thermally stabilizing the mutant protein. *FASEB J* 27(2), 536–545 (PubMed PMID: 23104983. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3545534. Epub 2012/10/30. eng).
- Hebestreit, H., Sauer-Heilborn, A., Fischer, R., Kading, M., & Mainz, J. G. (2013, Dec). Effects of ivacaftor on severely ill patients with cystic fibrosis carrying a G551D mutation. *J Cyst Fibros* 12(6), 599–603 (PubMed PMID: 23757359. Epub 2013/06/13. eng).
- Hirsh, A. J., Molino, B. F., Zhang, J., Astakhova, N., Geiss, W. B., Sargent, B. J., et al. (2006, Jul 13). Design, synthesis, and structure-activity relationships of novel 2-substituted pyrazinoylguanidine epithelial sodium channel blockers: drugs for cystic fibrosis and chronic bronchitis. J Med Chem 49(14), 4098–4115 (PubMed PMID: 16821771. Epub 2006/07/11. eng).
- Hirtz, S., Gonska, T., Seydewitz, H. H., Thomas, J., Greiner, P., Kuehr, J., et al. (2004, Oct). CFTR Cl— channel function in native human colon correlates with the genotype and phenotype in cystic fibrosis. *Gastroenterology* 127(4), 1085–1095 (PubMed PMID: 15480987. Epub 2004/10/14. eng).
- Hodson, M. E., Simmonds, N. J., Warwick, W. J., Tullis, E., Castellani, C., Assael, B., et al. (2008, Nov). An international/multicentre report on patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) over the age of 40 years. J Cyst Fibros 7(6), 537–542 (PubMed PMID: 18715831. eng).
- Hollander, F. M., van Pierre, DD, de Roos, NM, van de Graaf, EA, & Iestra, JA (2014, Mar). Effects of nutritional status and dietetic interventions on survival in cystic fibrosis patients before and after lung transplantation. J Cyst Fibros 13(2), 212–218 (PubMed PMID: 24041590. Epub 2013/09/18. eng).
- Available from: http://investors.vrtx.com/releasedetail.cfm?Releaseid=827435.
- Available from: http://investors.vrtx.com/releasesArchive.cfm?Year=&ReleasesType= &PageNum=2. (2014, February 23).
- Johnson, C., Butler, S. M., Konstan, M. W., Morgan, W., & Wohl, M. E. (2003, Jan). Factors influencing outcomes in cystic fibrosis: a center-based analysis. *Chest* 123(1), 20–27 (PubMed PMID: 12527598. Epub 2003/01/16. eng).
- Jung, J., Nam, J. H., Park, H. W., Oh, U., Yoon, J. H., & Lee, M. G. (2013, Jan 2). Dynamic modulation of ANO1/TMEM16A HCO3(-) permeability by Ca2+/calmodulin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110*(1), 360–365 (PubMed PMID: 23248295. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3538232. Epub 2012/12/19. eng).
- Kent, L., Reix, P., Innes, J. A., Zielen, S., Le BM, Braggion C., et al. (2014, Mar). Lung clearance index: evidence for use in clinical trials in cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 13(2), 123–138 (PubMed PMID: 24315208. Epub 2013/12/10. Eng).
- Kerem, E., Bentur, L., England, S., Reisman, J., O'Brodovich, H., Bryan, A. C., et al. (1990, Jan). Sequential pulmonary function measurements during treatment of infantile chronic interstitial pneumonitis. *J Pediatr* 116(1), 61–67 (PubMed PMID: 2295964. Epub 1990/01/01. eng).
- Kerem, E., Corey, M., Kerem, B. S., Rommens, J., Markiewicz, D., Levison, H., et al. (1990, Nov 29). The relation between genotype and phenotype in cystic fibrosis—analysis of the most common mutation (delta F508). N Engl J Med 323(22), 1517–1522 (PubMed PMID: 2233932. Epub 1990/11/29. eng).
- Kerem, E., Hirawat, S., Armoni, S., Yaakov, Y., Shoseyov, D., Cohen, M., et al. (2008, Aug 30). Effectiveness of PTC124 treatment of cystic fibrosis caused by nonsense mutations: a prospective phase II trial. *Lancet* 372(9640), 719–727 (PubMed PMID: 18722008. Epub 2008/08/30. eng).
- Kerem, E., Konstan, M. W., De Boeck, K., Accurso, F. J., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Wilschanski, M., et al. (2014, May 15). Ataluren for the treatment of nonsense-mutation cystic fibrosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine* 2(7), 539–547, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(14) 70100-6 (PubMed PMID: 24836205).
- Klymiuk, N., Aigner, B., Brem, G., & Wolf, E. (2010, Mar). Genetic modification of pigs as organ donors for xenotransplantation. *Mol Reprod Dev* 77(3), 209–221 (PubMed PMID: 19998476. Epub 2009/12/10. eng).
- Knowles, M. R., Church, N. L., Waltner, W. E., Yankaskas, J. R., Gilligan, P., King, M., et al. (1990, Apr 26). A pilot study of aerosolized amiloride for the treatment of lung disease in cystic fibrosis. *N Engl J Med 322*(17), 1189–1194 (PubMed PMID: 2157983. Epub 1990/04/26. eng).

- Kunzelmann, K., Tian, Y., Martins, J. R., Faria, D., Kongsuphol, P., Ousingsawat, J., et al. (2011, Aug). Anoctamins. *Pflugers Arch* 462(2), 195–208 (PubMed PMID: 21607626. Epub 2011/05/25. eng).
- Kunzelmann, K., Tian, Y., Martins, J. R., Faria, D., Kongsuphol, P., Ousingsawat, J., et al. (2012, Nov). Airway epithelial cells—functional links between CFTR and anoctamin dependent Cl— secretion. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 44(11), 1897–1900 (PubMed PMID: 22710346. Epub 2012/06/20. eng).
- Laner, A., Goussard, S., Ramalho, A. S., Schwarz, T., Amaral, M. D., Courvalin, P., et al. (2005, Nov). Bacterial transfer of large functional genomic DNA into human cells. *Gene Ther* 12(21), 1559–1572 (PubMed PMID: 15973438, Epub 2005/06/24, eng).
- Lansdell, K. A., Kidd, J. F., Delaney, S. J., Wainwright, B. J., & Sheppard, D. N. (1998, Nov 1). Regulation of murine cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator Cl– channels expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *J Physiol* 512(Pt 3), 751–764 (PubMed PMID: 9769419. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2231228. Epub 1998/10/14. eng).
- Lebecque, P., Leonard, A., De Boeck, K., De Baets, F., Malfroot, A., Casimir, G., et al. (2009, Jan). Early referral to cystic fibrosis specialist centre impacts on respiratory outcome. *J Cyst Fibros* 8(1), 26–30 (PubMed PMID: 18838309. Epub 2008/10/08. eng).
- Lee, T. W., Brownlee, K. G., Denton, M., Littlewood, J. M., & Conway, S. P. (2004, Feb). Reduction in prevalence of chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection at a regional pediatric cystic fibrosis center. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 37(2), 104–110 (PubMed PMID: 14730654. Epub 2004/01/20. eng).
- Lilley, M., Christian, S., Hume, S., Scott, P., Montgomery, M., Semple, L., et al. (2010, Nov). Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Alberta: two years of experience. *Pediatr Child Health* 15(9), 590–594 (PubMed PMID: 22043142. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3009566. Epub 2011/11/02. eng).
- Lillie, E. O., Patay, B., Diamant, J., Issell, B., Topol, E. J., & Schork, N. J. (2011, Mar). The n-of-1 clinical trial: the ultimate strategy for individualizing medicine? *Per Med* 8(2), 161–173 (PubMed PMID: 21695041. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3118090. Epub 2011/ 06/23. Eng).
- Liou, T. G., Elkin, E. P., Pasta, D. J., Jacobs, J. R., Konstan, M. W., Morgan, W. J., et al. (2010, Jul). Year-to-year changes in lung function in individuals with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 9(4), 250–256 (PubMed PMID: 20471331. Epub 2010/05/18. eng).
- Lobo, L. J., Chang, L. C., Esther, C. R., Jr., Gilligan, P. H., Tulu, Z., & Noone, P. G. (2013, Jul-Augg). Lung transplant outcomes in cystic fibrosis patients with pre-operative Mycobacterium abscessus respiratory infections. Clin Transplant 27(4), 523–529 (PubMed PMID: 23710571. Epub 2013/05/29. eng).
- Ma, T., Thiagarajah, J. R., Yang, H., Sonawane, N. D., Folli, C., Galietta, L. J., et al. (2002, Dec). Thiazolidinone CFTR inhibitor identified by high-throughput screening blocks cholera toxin-induced intestinal fluid secretion. J Clin Invest 110(11), 1651–1658 (PubMed PMID: 12464670. Pubmed Central PMCID: 151633. Epub 2002/12/05. eng).
- Mahadeva, R., Webb, K., Westerbeek, R. C., Carroll, N. R., Dodd, M. E., Bilton, D., et al. (1998, Jun 13). Clinical outcome in relation to care in centres specialising in cystic fibrosis: cross sectional study. *BMJ* 316(7147), 1771–1775 (PubMed PMID: 9624062. Pubmed Central PMCID: 28574. Epub 1998/06/24. eng).
- Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K. M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J. E., et al. (2013, Feb 15). RNAguided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* 339(6121), 823–826 (PubMed PMID: 23287722. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3712628. Epub 2013/01/05. eng).
- Mall, M., Bleich, M., Greger, R., Schreiber, R., & Kunzelmann, K. (1998, Jul 1). The amiloride-inhibitable Na+ conductance is reduced by the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in normal but not in cystic fibrosis airways. J Clin Invest 102(1), 15–21 (PubMed PMID: 9649552. Pubmed Central PMCID: 509060. Epub 1998/07/03. eng).
- Martins, J. R., Faria, D., Kongsuphol, P., Reisch, B., Schreiber, R., & Kunzelmann, K. (2011, Nov 1). Anoctamin 6 is an essential component of the outwardly rectifying chloride channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108*(44), 18168–18172 (PubMed PMID: 22006324. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3207678. Epub 2011/10/19. eng).
- Mayer-Hamblett, N., Rosenfeld, M., Treggiari, M. M., Konstan, M. W., Retsch-Bogart, G., Morgan, W., et al. (2013, Oct). Standard care versus protocol based therapy for new onset *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 48(10), 943–953 (PubMed PMID: 23818295. Epub 2013/07/03. eng).
- McCormick, J., Mehta, G., Olesen, H. V., Viviani, L., Macek, M., Jr., & Mehta, A. (2010, Mar 20). Comparative demographics of the European cystic fibrosis population: a crosssectional database analysis. *Lancet* 375(9719), 1007–1013 (PubMed PMID: 20304245. eng).
- McKone, E. F., Borowitz, D., Drevinek, P., Griese, M., Konstan, M. W., Wainwright, C., et al. (2013). Long-term safety and efficacy of ivacaftor in patients with cystic fibrosis who have the G551d-CFTR mutation: response through 144 weeks of treatment (96 weeks of PERSIST). *Pediatr Pulmonol* 48(S36), 287.
- Meachery, G., De, S. A., Nicholson, A., Parry, G., Hasan, A., Tocewicz, K., et al. (2008, Aug). Outcomes of lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis in a large UK cohort. *Thorax* 63(8), 725–731 (PubMed PMID: 18487317. Epub 2008/05/20. eng).
- Mendes, F., Roxo, R. M., Dragomir, A., Farinha, C. M., Roomans, G. M., Amaral, M. D., et al. (2003, Nov 21). Unusually common cystic fibrosis mutation in Portugal encodes a misprocessed protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 311(3), 665–671 (PubMed PMID: 14623323. Epub 2003/11/19. eng).
- Moniz, S., Sousa, M., Moraes, B. J., Mendes, A. I., Palma, M., Barreto, C., et al. (2013, Feb 15). HGF stimulation of Rac1 signaling enhances pharmacological correction of the most prevalent cystic fibrosis mutant F508del-CFTR. ACS Chem Biol 8(2), 432–442 (PubMed PMID: 23148778. Epub 2012/11/15. eng).
- Moodley, Y., Thompson, P., & Warburton, D. (2013, Nov). Stem cells: a recapitulation of development. *Respirology* 18(8), 1167–1176 (PubMed PMID: 24033442. Epub 2013/09/17. eng).
- Moran, O., & Zegarra-Moran, O. (2005, Jul 18). A quantitative description of the activation and inhibition of CFTR by potentiators: genistein. FEBS Lett 579(18), 3979–3983 (PubMed PMID: 15996659. Epub 2005/07/06. eng).

- Mott, L. S., Park, J., Murray, C. P., Gangell, C. L., de, K. N. H., Robinson, P. J., et al. (2012, Jun). Progression of early structural lung disease in young children with cystic fibrosis assessed using CT. *Thorax* 67(6), 509–516 (PubMed PMID: 22201161. Epub 2011/ 12/28, eng).
- Murphy, S. V., & Atala, A. (2013). Cell therapy for cystic fibrosis. J Tissue Eng Regen Med, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/term.1746 (PubMed PMID: 23894126. Epub 2013/07/31. Eng).
- Nadeau, J. H. (2001, Mar). Modifier genes in mice and humans. Nat Rev Genet 2(3), 165–174 (PubMed PMID: 11256068. Epub 2001/03/21. eng).
- Okiyoneda, T., Veit, G., Dekkers, J. F., Bagdany, M., Soya, N., Xu, H., et al. (2013, Jul). Mechanism-based corrector combination restores DeltaF508-CFTR folding and function. *Nat Chem Biol* 9(7), 444–454 (PubMed PMID: 23666117. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3840170. Epub 2013/05/15. eng).
- O'Neal, W. K., Hasty, P., McCray, P. B., Jr., Casey, B., Rivera-Perez, J., Welsh, M. J., et al. (1993, Oct). A severe phenotype in mice with a duplication of exon 3 in the cystic fibrosis locus. *Hum Mol Genet* 2(10), 1561–1569 (PubMed PMID: 7505691. Epub 1993/10/01. eng).
- Opar, A. (2011, Jul). Excitement mounts for first disease-modifying cystic fibrosis drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 10(7), 479–480 (PubMed PMID: 21720393. Epub 2011/07/02. eng).
- Ostedgaard, L. S., Rogers, C. S., Dong, Q., Randak, C. O., Vermeer, D. W., Rokhlina, T., et al. (2007, Sep 25). Processing and function of CFTR-DeltaF508 are species-dependent. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104*(39), 15370–15375 (PubMed PMID: 17873061. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1976592. Epub 2007/09/18. eng).
- O'Sullivan, B. P., & Freedman, S. D. (2009, May 30). Cystic fibrosis. *Lancet* 373(9678), 1891–1904 (PubMed PMID: 19403164. eng.).
- O'Sullivan, B. P., Orenstein, D. M., & Milla, C. E. (2013, Oct 2). Pricing for orphan drugs: will the market bear what society cannot? *JAMA* 310(13), 1343–1344 (PubMed PMID: 24084916. Epub 2013/10/03. eng).
- Pedemonte, N., Lukacs, G. L., Du, K., Caci, E., Zegarra-Moran, O., Galietta, L. J., et al. (2005, Sep). Small-molecule correctors of defective DeltaF508-CFTR cellular processing identified by high-throughput screening. *J Clin Invest* 115(9), 2564–2571 (PubMed PMID: 16127463. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1190372. Epub 2005/08/30. eng).
- Pennings, P. S. (2013, Jun 6). HIV drug resistance: problems and perspectives. *Infect Dis Rep* 5(Suppl. 1), e5 (PubMed PMID: 24470969. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3892620. Epub 2014/01/29. Eng).
- Plant, B. J., Goss, C. H., Plant, W. D., & Bell, S. C. (2013). Management of comorbidities in older patients with cystic fibrosis. *Lancet Respir Med* 1, 164–174.
- Que, C., Cullinan, P., & Geddes, D. (2006, Feb). Improving rate of decline of FEV1 in young adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 61(2), 155–157 (PubMed PMID: 16384880. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2104571. Epub 2005/12/31. eng).
- Quon, B. S., & Aitken, M. L. (2012, Dec). Cystic fibrosis: what to expect now in the early adult years. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 13(4), 206–214 (PubMed PMID: 23069117. Epub 2012/10/17. eng).
- Ramalho, A. S., Beck, S., Meyer, M., Penque, D., Cutting, G. R., & Amaral, M. D. (2002, Nov). Five percent of normal cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator mRNA ameliorates the severity of pulmonary disease in cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 27(5), 619–627 (PubMed PMID: 12397022. Epub 2002/10/25. eng).
- Ramalho, A. S., Lewandowska, M. A., Farinha, C. M., Mendes, F., Goncalves, J., Barreto, C., et al. (2009). Deletion of CFTR translation start site reveals functional isoforms of the protein in CF patients. *Cell Physiol Biochem* 24(5-6), 335–346 (PubMed PMID: 19910674. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2793277. Epub 2009/11/17. eng).
- Ramsey, B. W., Davies, J., McElvaney, N. G., Tullis, E., Bell, S. C., Drevinek, P., et al. (2011, Nov 3). A CFTR potentiator in patients with cystic fibrosis and the G551D mutation. *N Engl J Med* 365(18), 1663–1672 (PubMed PMID: 22047557. eng).
- Ratjen, F., Durham, T., Navratil, T., Schaberg, A., Accurso, F. J., Wainwright, C., et al. (2012, Dec). Long term effects of denufosol tetrasodium in patients with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 11(6), 539–549 (PubMed PMID: 22682898. Epub 2012/06/12. eng).
- Ratjen, F., Munck, A., Kho, P., & Angyalosi, G. (2010, Apr). Treatment of early *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa infection in patients with cystic fibrosis: the ELITE trial. *Thorax* 65(4), 286–291 (PubMed PMID: 19996339. Epub 2009/12/10. eng).
- Ren, H. Y., Grove, D. E., De, L. R. O., Houck, S. A., Sopha, P., Van, G. F., et al. (2013, Oct). VX-809 corrects folding defects in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein through action on membrane-spanning domain 1. *Mol Biol Cell 24*(19), 3016–3024 (PubMed PMID: 23924900. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3784376. Epub 2013/08/09. eng).
- Riordan, J. R., Rommens, J. M., Kerem, B., Alon, N., Rozmahel, R., Grzelczak, Z., et al. (1989, Sep 8). Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA. *Science* 245(4922), 1066–1073 (PubMed PMID: 2475911. Epub 1989/09/08. eng).
- Rocchi, L., Braz, C., Cattani, S., Ramalho, A., Christan, S., Edlinger, M., et al. (2010, Sep). Escherichia coli-cloned CFTR loci relevant for human artificial chromosome therapy. Hum Gene Ther 21(9), 1077–1092 (PubMed PMID: 20384480. Epub 2010/04/14. eng).
- Rock, J. R., O'Neal, W. K., Gabriel, S. E., Randell, S. H., Harfe, B. D., Boucher, R. C., et al. (2009, May 29). Transmembrane protein 16A (TMEM16A) is a Ca2+-regulated Cl— secretory channel in mouse airways. J Biol Chem 284(22), 14875–14880 (PubMed PMID: 19363029. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2685669. Epub 2009/04/14. eng).
- Rogers, C. S., Hao, Y., Rokhlina, T., Samuel, M., Stoltz, D. A., Li, Y., et al. (2008, Apr). Production of CFIR-null and CFIR-DeltaF508 heterozygous pigs by adeno-associated virusmediated gene targeting and somatic cell nuclear transfer. J Clin Invest 118(4), 1571–1577 (PubMed PMID: 18324337. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2265103. Epub 2008/03/08. eng).
- Rogers, C. S., Stoltz, D. A., Meyerholz, D. K., Ostedgaard, L. S., Rokhlina, T., Taft, P. J., et al. (2008, Sep 26). Disruption of the CFTR gene produces a model of cystic fibrosis in newborn pigs. *Science* 321(5897), 1837–1841 (PubMed PMID: 18818360. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2570747. Epub 2008/09/27. eng).

- Roth, E. K., Hirtz, S., Duerr, J., Wenning, D., Eichler, I., Seydewitz, H. H., et al. (2011). The K+ channel opener 1-EBIO potentiates residual function of mutant CFTR in rectal biopsies from cystic fibrosis patients. *PLoS One* 6(8), e24445 (PubMed PMID: 21909392. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3164200. Epub 2011/09/13. eng).
- Rowe, S. M., Heltshe, S. L., Gonska, T., Donaldson, S., Borowitz, D., Gelfond, D., et al. (2013). Results of the G551D observational study: the effect of ivacaftor in G551D patients following FDA approval. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 48(36), 278.
- Roxo-Rosa, M., Xu, Z., Schmidt, A., Neto, M., Cai, Z., Soares, C. M., et al. (2006, Nov 21). Revertant mutants G550E and 4RK rescue cystic fibrosis mutants in the first nucleotidebinding domain of CFTR by different mechanisms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(47), 17891–17896 (PubMed PMID: 17098864. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1693843. Epub 2006/11/14. eng).
- Sawicki, G. S., Sellers, D. E., & Robinson, W. M. (2009, Mar). High treatment burden in adults with cystic fibrosis: challenges to disease self-management. *J Cyst Fibros* 8(2), 91–96 (PubMed PMID: 18952504. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2680350. Epub 2008/10/28. eng).
- Sawicki, G. S., & Tiddens, H. (2012, Jun). Managing treatment complexity in cystic fibrosis: challenges and opportunities. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 47(6), 523–533 (PubMed PMID: 22467341. Epub 2012/04/03. eng).
- Schroeder, B. C., Cheng, T., Jan, Y. N., & Jan, L. Y. (2008, Sep 19). Expression cloning of TMEM16A as a calcium-activated chloride channel subunit. *Cell* 134(6), 1019–1029 (PubMed PMID: 18805094. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2651354. Epub 2008/09/23. eng).
- Schwank, G., Koo, B. K., Sasselli, V., Dekkers, J. F., Heo, I., Demircan, T., et al. (2013, Dec 5). Functional repair of CFTR by CRISPR/Cas9 in intestinal stem cell organoids of cystic fibrosis patients. *Cell Stem Cell* 13(6), 653–658 (PubMed PMID: 24315439. Epub 2013/ 12/10. eng).
- Scotet, V., Audrezet, M. P., Roussey, M., Rault, G., Dirou-Prigent, A., Journel, H., et al. (2006, Nov). Immmunoreactive trypsin/DNA newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: should the R117H variant be included in CFTR mutation panels? *Pediatrics 118*(5), e1523–e1529 (PubMed PMID: 17015492. Epub 2006/10/04. eng).
- Seibert, F. S., Linsdell, P., Loo, T. W., Hanrahan, J. W., Clarke, D. M., & Riordan, J. R. (1996, Jun 21). Disease-associated mutations in the fourth cytoplasmic loop of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator compromise biosynthetic processing and chloride channel activity. J Biol Chem 271(25), 15139–15145 (PubMed PMID: 8662892. Epub 1996/06/21. eng).
- Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Boeck, K. D., Casimir, G. J., Vermeulen, F., Leal, T., Mogenet, A., et al. (2010, Nov 15). Ataluren (PTC124) induces cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein expression and activity in children with nonsense mutation cystic fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182*(10), 1262–1272 (PubMed PMID: 20622033. Epub 2010/07/14. eng).
- Sharma, M., Pampinella, F., Nemes, C., Benharouga, M., So, J., Du, K., et al. (2004, Mar 15). Misfolding diverts CFTR from recycling to degradation: quality control at early endosomes. *J Cell Biol* 164(6), 923–933 (PubMed PMID: 15007060. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2172283. Epub 2004/03/10. eng).
- Sheppard, D. N., Rich, D. P., Ostedgaard, L. S., Gregory, R. J., Smith, A. E., & Welsh, M. J. (1993, Mar 11). Mutations in CFTR associated with mild-disease-form Cl— channels with altered pore properties. *Nature* 362(6416), 160–164 (PubMed PMID: 7680769. Epub 1993/03/11. eng).
- Siller, R., Greenhough, S., Park, I. H., & Sullivan, G. J. (2013, Apr). Modelling human disease with pluripotent stem cells. *Curr Gene Ther* 13(2), 99–110 (PubMed PMID: 23444871. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3785403. Epub 2013/03/01. eng).
- Simmonds, N. J., Cullinan, P., & Hodson, M. E. (2009, Apr.). Growing old with cystic fibrosis – the characteristics of long-term survivors of cystic fibrosis. *Respir Med* 103(4), 629–635 (PubMed PMID: 19022643, eng).
- Simon, R. (2008, Jun). Designs and adaptive analysis plans for pivotal clinical trials of therapeutics and companion diagnostics. *Expert Opin Med Diagn* 2(6), 721–729 (PubMed PMID: 23495781. Epub 2008/06/01. eng).
- Siva, K., Covello, G., & Denti, M. A. (2014, Feb). Exon-skipping antisense oligonucleotides to correct missplicing in neurogenetic diseases. *Nucleic Acids Ther* 24(1), 69–86 (PubMed PMID: 24506781. Epub 2014/02/11. eng).
- Sly, P. D., Gangell, C. L., Chen, L., Ware, R. S., Ranganathan, S., Mott, L. S., et al. (2013, May 23). Risk factors for bronchiectasis in children with cystic fibrosis. N Engl J Med 368(21), 1963–1970 (PubMed PMID: 23692169. Epub 2013/05/23. eng).
- Snouwaert, J. N., Brigman, K. K., Latour, A. M., Malouf, N. N., Boucher, R. C., Smithies, O., et al. (1992, Aug 21). An animal model for cystic fibrosis made by gene targeting. *Science* 257(5073), 1083–1088 (PubMed PMID: 1380723. Epub 1992/08/21. eng).
- Sosnay, P. R., Siklosi, K. R., Van, G. F., Kaniecki, K., Yu, H., Sharma, N., et al. (2013, Oct). Defining the disease liability of variants in the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene. *Nat Genet* 45(10), 1160–1167 (PubMed PMID: 23974870. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3874936. Epub 2013/08/27. eng.).
- Sousa, M., Servidoni, M. F., Vinagre, A. M., Ramalho, A. S., Bonadia, L. C., Felicio, V., et al. (2012). Measurements of CFTR-mediated Cl— secretion in human rectal biopsies constitute a robust biomarker for cystic fibrosis diagnosis and prognosis. *PLoS One* 7(10), e47708 (PubMed PMID: 23082198. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3474728. Epub 2012/10/20. eng).
- Stick, S. M., & Sly, P. D. (2011, Jun 15). Exciting new clinical trials in cystic fibrosis: infants need not apply. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 183(12), 1577–1578 (PubMed PMID: 21693709. Epub 2011/06/23. eng).
- Taccetti, G., Bianchini, E., Cariani, L., Buzzetti, R., Costantini, D., Trevisan, F., et al. (2012, Oct). Early antibiotic treatment for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* eradication in patients with cystic fibrosis: a randomised multicentre study comparing two different protocols. *Thorax* 67(10), 853–859 (PubMed PMID: 22379071. Epub 2012/03/02. eng.

- Takahashi, K., & Yamanaka, S. (2006, Aug 25). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* 126(4), 663–676 (PubMed PMID: 16904174. Epub 2006/08/15. eng).
- Takatori, N., Wada, S., & Saiga, H. (2007, May). Regionalization of the tail-tip epidermis requires inductive influence from vegetal cells and FGF signaling in the development of an ascidian, *Halocynthia roretzi. Zoolog Sci* 24(5), 441–448 (PubMed PMID: 17867843. Epub 2007/09/18. eng).
- Thauvin-Robinet, C., Munck, A., Huet, F., Genin, E., Bellis, G., Gautier, E., et al. (2009, Nov). The very low penetrance of cystic fibrosis for the R117H mutation: a reappraisal for genetic counselling and newborn screening. J Med Genet 46(11), 752–758 (PubMed PMID: 19880712. Epub 2009/11/03. eng).
- Tian, Y., Schreiber, R., Wanitchakool, P., Kongsuphol, P., Sousa, M., Uliyakina, I., et al. (2013, Jan). Control of TMEM16A by INO-4995 and other inositolphosphates. Br J Pharmacol 168(1), 253–265 (PubMed PMID: 22946960. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3570019. Epub 2012/09/06. eng).
- Tiddens, H. A. (2009, Jun). Introduction: striving for excellence: optimising CF patient care today. J Cyst Fibros 8(Suppl. 1), S1 (PubMed PMID: 19460680. Epub 2009/05/23. eng).
- Tiddens, H. A., Stick, S. M., & Davis, S. (2014, Mar). Multi-modality monitoring of cystic fibrosis lung disease: the role of chest computed tomography. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 15(1), 92–97 (PubMed PMID: 23830321. Epub 2013/07/09. Eng).
- van Doorninck, J. H., French, P. J., Verbeek, E., Peters, R. H., Morreau, H., Bijman, J., et al. (1995, Sep 15). A mouse model for the cystic fibrosis delta F508 mutation. *EMBO J* 14(18), 4403–4411 (PubMed PMID: 7556083. Pubmed Central PMCID: 394531. Epub 1995/09/15. eng).
- Van Goor, F., Hadida, S., Grootenhuis, P. D., Burton, B., Cao, D., Neuberger, T., et al. (2009, Nov 3). Rescue of CF airway epithelial cell function in vitro by a CFTR potentiator, VX-770. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106(44), 18825–18830 (PubMed PMID: 19846789. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2773991. Epub 2009/10/23. eng).
- Van Goor, F., Hadida, S., Grootenhuis, P. D., Burton, B., Stack, J. H., Straley, K. S., et al. (2011, Nov 15). Correction of the F508del-CFTR protein processing defect in vitro by the investigational drug VX-809. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108*(46), 18843–18848 (PubMed PMID: 21976485. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3219147. Epub 2011/10/07. eng).
- Van Goor, F., Yu, H., Burton, B., & Hoffman, B. J. (2014, Jan). Effect of ivacaftor on CFTR forms with missense mutations associated with defects in protein processing or function. J Cyst Fibros 13(1), 29–36 (PubMed PMID: 23891399. Epub 2013/07/31. eng).
- Vermeulen, F., Proesmans, M., Boon, M., Havermans, T., & De, B. K. (2014, Jan). Lung clearance index predicts pulmonary exacerbations in young patients with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 69(1), 39–45 (PubMed PMID: 24021874. Epub 2013/09/12. eng).
- Wang, X. F., Reddy, M. M., & Quinton, P. M. (2004, Jul). Effects of a new cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator inhibitor on Cl – conductance in human sweat ducts. *Exp Physiol* 89(4), 417–425 (PubMed PMID: 15131065. Epub 2004/05/08. eng).
- Welch, E. M., Barton, E. R., Zhuo, J., Tomizawa, Y., Friesen, W. J., Trifillis, P., et al. (2007, May 3). PTC124 targets genetic disorders caused by nonsense mutations. *Nature* 447(7140), 87–91 (PubMed PMID: 17450125. Epub 2007/04/24. eng).
- Welsh, M. J., & Smith, A. E. (1995, Dec). Cystic fibrosis. *Sci Am* 273(6), 52–59 (PubMed PMID: 8525348. Epub 1995/12/01. eng).
- Wielputz, M. O., Puderbach, M., Kopp-Schneider, A., Stahl, M., Fritzsching, E., Sommerburg, O., et al. (2014, Apr 15). Magnetic resonance imaging detects changes in structure and perfusion, and response to therapy in early cystic fibrosis lung disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 189(8), 956–965 (PubMed PMID: 24564281).
- Wilschanski, M., Famini, C., Blau, H., Rivlin, J., Augarten, A., Avital, A., et al. (2000, Mar). A pilot study of the effect of gentamicin on nasal potential difference measurements in cystic fibrosis patients carrying stop mutations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 161(3 Pt 1), 860–865 (PubMed PMID: 10712334. Epub 2000/03/11. eng).
- Wilschanski, M., Miller, L. L., Shoseyov, D., Blau, H., Rivlin, J., Aviram, M., et al. (2011, Jul). Chronic ataluren (PTC124) treatment of nonsense mutation cystic fibrosis. *Eur Respir* J 38(1), 59–69 (PubMed PMID: 21233271. Epub 2011/01/15. eng).
- Wilschanski, M., Yahav, Y., Yaacov, Y., Blau, H., Bentur, L., Rivlin, J., et al. (2003, Oct 9). Gentamicin-induced correction of CFTR function in patients with cystic fibrosis and CFTR stop mutations. N Engl J Med 349(15), 1433–1441 (PubMed PMID: 14534336. Epub 2003/10/10. eng).
- Wright, F. A., Strug, L. J., Doshi, V. K., Commander, C. W., Blackman, S. M., Sun, L., et al. (2011, Jun). Genome-wide association and linkage identify modifier loci of lung disease severity in cystic fibrosis at 11p13 and 20q13.2. *Nat Genet* 43(6), 539–546 (PubMed PMID: 21602797. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3296486. Epub 2011/05/24. eng).
- Available from: http://www.actionduchenne.org/viewarticle?news=497. (2014, March 1).
 Available from: http://www.cff.org/research/clinicalresearch/faqs/combinedkalydecovx-809. (2014, Feb 17).

Available from: http://www.cff.org/research/drugdevelopmentpipeline/. (2014, May 23). Available from: www.CFTR2.org. (2014, February 17).

- Yang, Y. D., Cho, H., Koo, J. Y., Tak, M. H., Cho, Y., Shim, W. S., et al. (2008, Oct 30). TMEM16A confers receptor-activated calcium-dependent chloride conductance. *Nature* 455(7217), 1210–1215 (PubMed PMID: 18724360, Epub 2008/08/30, eng).
- Yarden, J., Radojković, D., De Boeck, K., Macek, M., Jr., Zemkova, D., Vavrova, V., et al. (2004, Aug). Polymorphisms in the mannose binding lectin gene affect the cystic fibrosis pulmonary phenotype. J Med Genet 41(8), 629–633 (PubMed PMID: 15286159. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1735860. Epub 2004/08/03. eng).
- Yu, H., Burton, B., Huang, C. J., Worley, J., Cao, D., Johnson, J. P., Jr., et al. (2012, May). Ivacaftor potentiation of multiple CFTR channels with gating mutations. J Cyst Fibros 11(3), 237–245 (PubMed PMID: 22293084. Epub 2012/02/02. eng).
- Zielenski, J., & Tsui, L. C. (1995). Cystic fibrosis: genotypic and phenotypic variations. Annu Rev Genet 29, 777–807 (PubMed PMID: 8825494. Epub 1995/01/01. eng).